SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

FORM 8-K

Current report filing

Filing Date: **2007-12-04** | Period of Report: **2007-11-28** SEC Accession No. 0000893220-07-003898

(HTML Version on secdatabase.com)

FILER

ERESEARCHTECHNOLOGY INC /DE/

CIK:1026650| IRS No.: 223264604 | State of Incorp.:DE | Fiscal Year End: 1231

Type: 8-K | Act: 34 | File No.: 000-29100 | Film No.: 071284505

SIC: 8734 Testing laboratories

Mailing Address 30 SOUTH 17TH STREET PHILADELPHIA PA 19102 Business Address 30 SOUTH 17TH STREET PHILADELPHIA PA 19103 2159720420

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT

Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of The Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): December 4, 2007 (November 28, 2007)

eResearchTechnology, Inc.

(Exact Name of Registrant Specified in Charter)

Delaware	0-29100	22-3264604	
(State or Other Jurisdiction of	(Commission File Number)	(IRS Employer Identification No.)	
Incorporation)			
30 South 17th Street, Philadelphia, PA		19103	
(Address of Principal Executive Offices)		(Zip Code)	
Regis	trant's telephone, including area code: 215-972	-0420	
Not applicable.			
(Former N	Jame and Former Address, if Changed Since La	st Report)	
Check the appropriate box below if the Form of the following provisions:	8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy	y the filing obligation of the Registrant under	
☐ Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)			
Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)			
Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))			
Pre-commencement communications purs	uant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act ((17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))	
	(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation) 30 South 17th Street (Address of Principal Regis (Former Notheck the appropriate box below if the Form of the following provisions: Written communications pursuant to Rule Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-1 Pre-commencement communications purs	(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation) 30 South 17th Street, Philadelphia, PA (Address of Principal Executive Offices) Registrant's telephone, including area code: 215-972 Not applicable. (Former Name and Former Address, if Changed Since Lacheck the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy of the following provisions: Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425 Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12	

Item 2.01 Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.

On November 28, 2007, eResearchTechnology, Inc. (the "Company") completed its acquisition of Covance Cardiac Safety Services Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation ("CCSS"), pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") among the Company, Covance Central Laboratory Services Limited Partnership, an Indiana limited partnership (the "Shareholder"), CCSS and Covance Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Covance" and, together with the Shareholder, the "Covance Parties"). Also, on November 27, 2007 and as previously reported in the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 27, 2007, the Company entered into the Exclusive Marketing Agreement (the "Marketing Agreement") with Covance under which Covance agreed to offer the Company's centralized cardiac safety services to Covance's clients, on an exclusive basis, for a period of 10 years.

CCSS is engaged primarily in the business of processing electrocardiograms in a digital environment as part of clinical trials of pharmaceutical candidates to assure patient safety. Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the Company purchased all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of CCSS in consideration of an upfront cash payment of \$35.2 million plus additional cash payments of up to approximately \$14 million, based upon the Company's potential realization of revenue from the backlog transferred and from new contracts secured through Covance's marketing activities. The final net proceeds to Covance are further subject to certain post-closing working capital adjustments. As previously reported, under the terms of the Marketing Agreement, Covance is obligated to use the Company as its exclusive provider of centralized cardiac safety services, and to offer these services to Covance's clients, on an exclusive basis, for a 10-year period. Under the terms of the Marketing Agreement, the Company is required to pay Covance portions of the revenue received by the Company during each calendar year of the 10-year term, based primarily on referrals made by Covance under the Marketing Agreement. The Marketing Agreement does not restrict the Company's continuing collaboration with its other key CRO, Phase I, Academic Research Center and other strategic partners.

The foregoing description of the Purchase Agreement and the Marketing Agreement, and the additional information relating to the Marketing Agreement included in Item 8.01 of this Report, are qualified in their entirety by reference to the full text of the Purchase Agreement and the Marketing Agreement (except to the extent of the confidential treatment request referenced in the next sentence) which are attached to this Report as Exhibit 2.1 and Exhibit 10.1, respectively, and are incorporated herein by reference. Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to certain portions of the Marketing Agreement. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC").

Other than with respect to the transactions reported in Item 2.01 and Item 8.01 of this Report, there is no material relationship between Covance or any of its affiliates and the Company or any of its affiliates, or, to the knowledge of the Company, any director or officer of the Company, or any associate of any such director or officer.

For additional information relating to the Marketing Agreement, see Item 8.01 of this Report.

Cautionary Statements

The Purchase Agreement and the Marketing Agreement have been included in this Report to provide investors with information regarding their respective terms. The summaries of the Purchase Agreement and the Marketing Agreement contained in this Report may not contain all of the information about these agreements that is important to investors. Therefore, it is recommended that each investor read carefully the copy of the Purchase Agreement that is being filed as Exhibit 2.1 to this Report and the copy of the Marketing Agreement that is being filed as Exhibit 10.1 to this Report, each in its entirety (other than the portions of the Marketing Agreement omitted pursuant to the confidential treatment request referenced above), as the rights and obligations of the parties are governed by the express terms of the Purchase Agreement and the Marketing Agreement and not by the summaries contained in this Report.

The Purchase Agreement contains representations, warranties and covenants made by, and to, the Company and the Covance Parties. These representations, warranties and covenants, which are set forth in the copy of the Purchase Agreement being filed as Exhibit 2.1 of this Report, were made for the purposes of negotiating and entering into the Purchase Agreement between the parties. In addition, these representations, warranties and covenants made by the parties in the Purchase Agreement are qualified and limited, including by information in the schedules referenced in the Purchase Agreement that the Covance Parties delivered in connection with the execution of the Purchase Agreement. Furthermore, these representations and warranties were made as of specified dates, may be subject to standards of materiality different from what may be viewed as material to stockholders, or may have been used for the purpose of allocating risk between the parties instead of establishing such matters as facts. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations and warranties, which do not purport to be accurate as of the date of filing of this Report, may have changed since the date of the Purchase Agreement, and subsequent developments or new information qualifying a representation or warranty may be included in documents filed with the SEC in the future. Accordingly, these representations and warranties should not be relied upon as statements of factual information. Investors are not third-party beneficiaries under the Purchase Agreement and should not rely on the representations, warranties and covenants or any descriptions thereof as characterizations of the actual state of facts or condition of CCSS or the Company.

Forward-Looking Statements

The statements contained in this Report may include forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, it can give no assurance that its expectations will be achieved. As forward-looking statements, these statements involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from expected results. These factors include, without limitation, (1) the occurrence of any effect, event, development or change that could give rise to the termination or suspension of the Marketing Agreement; (2) the outcome of any legal proceedings that may be instituted against the Company or others following announcement of entering into the Marketing Agreement; (3) the inability to perform the services contemplated by the Marketing Agreement; (4) risks that the transactions disrupt current plans and operations of the Company; (5) the ability of the Company to recognize the contemplated benefits of the Purchase Agreement or the Marketing Agreement; (6) the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to the Purchase Agreement and the Marketing Agreement; and (7) other risks and uncertainties detailed in the Company's filings with the SEC. The Company assumes no obligation to update or supplement forward-looking statements that become untrue because of subsequent events.

Item 2.05. Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.

In connection with its acquisition of CCSS on November 28, 2007, the Company committed to a plan (the "Plan") to integrate the operations of CCSS with the Company's operations within approximately one year following the acquisition of CCSS. The principal features of the Plan contemplate the closing of the operations of CCSS currently conducted in Reno, Nevada and Crawley, West Sussex, United Kingdom, after the integration of the operations of CCSS conducted at these facilities into the Company's existing facilities in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Bridgewater, New Jersey; and Peterborough, United Kingdom. In connection with the contemplated closure of the existing facilities of CCSS, the Company plans to eliminate certain full-time, part-time and contract personnel at those facilities. The precise timing of these position eliminations has not been determined, but they will coincide with the Company's integration activities over approximately the next year. All position eliminations and employee discharges will be effectuated in compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws. The Plan contemplates that CCSS will continue to perform all of its obligations under agreements to provide cardiac safety services to third parties. At the time of the Company's acquisition of CCSS, these agreements accounted for a net backlog of approximately \$28 million. With the concurrence of the respective counterparties to CCSS under these agreements, certain obligations of CCSS to provide cardiac safety services may be performed using the Company's EXPERT 2® cardiac safety services platform. The

Company does not expect to report significant positive cash flows and operating income from services performed under these agreements using the legacy platform of CCSS. However, management believes that services performed under these agreements using the Company's EXPeRT 2® platform should generate operating margins that are more reflective of the Company's historical operating results, subject to pricing and other terms of the specific agreements under which the services are performed.

As of the date of filing of this Report, the Company is unable to make a final determination of the estimated range of costs and other charges it may incur in connection with its acquisition of CCSS. Accordingly, the Company will provide information relating to these costs and other charges after it is able to determine the estimate or range of estimates for these costs and other charges, and will file with the SEC one or more amendments to this Report, or include disclosure of these costs or other charges in other reports the Company files with the SEC, as details of any impairment charges are refined and estimates of the related costs and charges are finalized.

Item 8.01. Other Events.

As disclosed in Item 2.01 of this Report and as previously reported in the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 27, 2007, on November 27, 2007, the Company entered into the Marketing Agreement which is attached to this Report as Exhibit 10.1 (other than the portions thereof omitted pursuant to the confidential treatment request referenced in Item 2.01 of this Report) and is incorporated herein by reference. The portions of Item 2.01 of this Report relating to the Marketing Agreement are incorporated by reference in Item 8.01 of this Report.

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(a) Financial statements of businesses acquired.

The requisite financial statements of CCSS will be filed by amendment to this Report within seventy-one (71) calendar days after the date of filing of this Report.

(b) Pro forma financial information.

The requisite pro forma financial information regarding the acquisition of CCSS will be filed by amendment to this Report within seventy-one (71) calendar days after the date of filing of this Report.

(c) Shell company transactions.

None.

(d) Exhibits.

Exhibit Title

2.1 Share Purchase Agreement dated November 27, 2007 by and among the Company, Covance Central Laboratory Services Limited Partnership, Covance Cardiac Safety Services Inc. and Covance Inc.

10.1* Exclusive Marketing Agreement dated November 27, 2007 by and between the Company and Covance Inc.

* Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the SEC.

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

eResearchTechnology, Inc.

By: /s/ Richard A. Baron

Richard A. Baron Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

and Secretary

Dated: December 4, 2007

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit	Exhibit Title
2.1	Share Purchase Agreement dated November 27, 2007 by and among the Company, Covance Central Laboratory Services Limited Partnership, Covance Cardiac Safety Services Inc. and Covance Inc.
10.1*	Exclusive Marketing Agreement dated November 27, 2007 by and between the Company and Covance Inc.

Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portions have been filed separately

with the SEC.

SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT

by and among

ERESEARCHTECHNOLOGY, INC.,

COVANCE CENTRAL LABORATORY SERVICES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,

COVANCE CARDIAC SAFETY SERVICES INC.

AND

COVANCE INC.

Dated as of November 27, 2007

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS	2
1.1 Definitions	2
ARTICLE 2 THE TRANSACTION	2
2.1 Sale and Purchase of Shares	2
2.2 Purchase Price	2
2.3 Closing Time and Place	2
2.4 Deliveries and Proceedings at the Closing	2
2.5 Timing of Closing	5
2.6 Waiver of Rights	5
2.7 Earnout	5
2.8 Purchase Price Adjustment	7
2.9 Additional Backlog Payments	9
2.10 Parent' s Right to Audit	10
ARTICLE 3 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COVANCE PARTIES	11
3.1 Division; Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries and Other Interests	11
3.2 Authority and Authorization	13
3.3 No Breach, Default, Violation or Consent	14
3.4 Financial Statements	14
3.5 Tax Matters	17
3.6 Restrictions on Business Activities	19
3.7 Litigation	19
3.8 Permits	19
3.9 Title to Properties	20
3.10 Contracts and Commitments	20
3.11 Customers and Suppliers	22
3.12 Insurance	23
3.13 Interested Party Transactions	23
3.14 Compliance with Law	23
3.15 Intellectual Property Rights	30
3.16 Employee Matters	33
3.17 Absence of Questionable Payments	35
3.18 Environmental Matters	35
3.19 Broker's and Finder's Fees	36
3.20 No Plan for Sale or Disposition	36
ARTICLE 4 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE ACQUIRER	36
4.1 Organization and Qualification	36
4.2 Authority and Authorization	36
4.3 Execution and Binding Effect	37
4.4 No Breach, Default, Violation or Consent	37
4.5 Purchase Price	37
4.6 No Plan for Acquisition	37
ARTICLE 5 ACTIONS PRIOR TO CLOSING	37
5.1 Conduct of Business of the Company	37
5.2 Confidentiality	40
i	

ARTICLE 6 OTHER AGREEMENTS	41
6.1 Access to Information	41
6.2 Covenants; Cooperation	41
6.3 Non-Competition	43
6.4 Employee Benefits	44
6.5 Leases	45
6.6 Tax Matters	46
6.7 Audit	48
6.8 Employees and Other Support Services	48
6.9 Intercompany Amounts	49
6.10 Name Change	49
6.11 Key Employees	49
6.12 Transferred Employees	49
6.13 Unsigned Backlog	49
ARTICLE 7 CLOSING CONDITIONS	49
7.1 Conditions Precedent to Obligations of the Acquirer	49
7.2 Conditions Precedent to Obligations of the Covance Parties	52
ARTICLE 8 TERMINATION	53
8.1 Termination	53
8.2 Effect of Termination	53
ARTICLE 9 INDEMNIFICATION	53
9.1 Survival	53
9.2 Indemnification by the Covance Parties	54
9.3 Indemnification by the Acquirer	55
9.4 Limitations	55
9.5 Intentionally Omitted	56
9.6 Testing Services Provided Under Section 3.14(t) Contracts	56
9.7 Defense of Claims	56
9.8 Set-Off	58
ARTICLE 10 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	58
10.1 Expenses	58
10.2 Amendments	58
10.3 Assignment	59
10.4 Counterparts; Telefacsimile and E-mail Delivery	59
10.5 Entire Agreement	59
10.6 Governing Law	59
10.7 Notices	59
10.8 Severability	60
10.9 Successors and Assigns	60
10.10 Waivers	60
10.11 Arbitration	61

Schedules

2.9(a)(i) – Unsigned Backlog 2.9(a)(ii) – On Hold Backlog

Exhibits

Exhibit A - Transition Services Agreement

Exhibit B – Retention Agreement

Exhibit C-1 – Form of Opinion with respect to the Parent and the Company

Exhibit C-2 – Form of Opinion with respect to the Shareholder

Exhibit D – General Release

Exhibit E - Trade Name Licenses

Exhibit F - Trademark and Patent Assignments

SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Share Purchase Agreement (this "Agreement") is made as of November 27, 2007 by and among eResearchTechnology, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Acquirer"), Covance Central Laboratory Services Limited Partnership, an Indiana limited partnership (the "Shareholder"), Covance Cardiac Safety Services Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation (the "Company"), and Covance Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Parent"). Each of the Acquirer, the Company, the Shareholder and the Parent is sometimes hereinafter referred to individually as a "Party" and collectively as the "Parties."

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Company is engaged in the business of processing electrocardiograms in a digital environment as part of clinical trials of pharmaceutical candidates to assure patient safety;

WHEREAS, the Shareholder is the beneficial owner and the holder of record of all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company;

WHEREAS, the Parent is the indirect beneficial owner of all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company;

WHEREAS, the Parent and the Shareholder (collectively, the "Covance Parties") desire to sell their interest in the Company, and the Acquirer desires to purchase the Covance Parties' interest in the Company;

WHEREAS, at the Closing, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Acquirer intends to purchase from the Shareholder, and the Shareholder intends to sell to the Acquirer, the Target Shares (as defined herein), free of all Liens (as defined herein); and

WHEREAS, the Parent, for its business, requires the services of the Company and other services relating to the processing of electrocardiograms in a digital environment as part of clinical trials of pharmaceutical candidates provided by the Acquirer, and the Acquirer desires to provide such services to the Parent, on an exclusive basis, and in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Parent and the Acquirer desire to enter into an Exclusive Marketing Agreement of even date herewith to set forth the terms and conditions to effect the foregoing arrangement (the "Exclusive Marketing Agreement").

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and the mutual terms, conditions and agreements set forth herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Parties to this Agreement hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS

Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings set forth in <u>Appendix 1</u>, attached hereto and made a part of this Agreement. Any capitalized term not defined in <u>Appendix 1</u> shall have the meaning that is given to it elsewhere in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2 THE TRANSACTION

- Sale and Purchase of Shares. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, at the Closing, the Shareholder shall sell, transfer, assign and deliver to the Acquirer, and the Acquirer shall purchase and acquire from the Shareholder, free and clear of all Liens,
 4,925,805.46 shares of Common Stock of the Company, par value \$0.01 (the "Target Shares"), which shall represent all of the issued
- 2.1 4,925,805.46 shares of Common Stock of the Company, par value \$0.01 (the "Target Shares"), which shall represent all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company, together with all rights now or hereafter attaching thereto, for the consideration set forth in Section 2.2.
- Purchase Price. In consideration of the sale and transfer of the Target Shares pursuant to Section 2.1, the Acquirer shall pay to the Shareholder and, where appropriate, the Parent the aggregate purchase price therefor, consisting of (a) Thirty-Five Million Two Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$35,200,000) (the "Closing Payment"), plus (b) the Earnout, plus or minus (c) any Purchase Price Adjustment plus (d) any aggregate Additional Backlog Payments (collectively, the "Purchase Price").
- Closing Time and Place. The closing of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "Closing") shall take place at 1:00 p.m., local time, on a date to be specified by the Parties, which shall be no later than five (5) business days after satisfaction or waiver of all of the conditions set forth in Article 7 (the "Closing Date"), at the offices of Duane Morris LLP, 30 South 17th Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 19103, unless another time, date or place is agreed to by the Parties hereto.
- 2.4 Deliveries and Proceedings at the Closing.
 - (a) Actions by the Covance Parties. At the Closing, the Covance Parties shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Acquirer the following documents and take or cause to be taken the following actions:
 - Original share certificate(s) representing the Target Shares accompanied by a duly executed stock power or similar instrument in form and substance satisfactory to the Acquirer to convey, transfer and assign to the Acquirer and effectively vest in the Acquirer all right, title and interest in and to, and good and marketable title to, the Target Shares, free and clear of any Lien;
 - (ii) (A) a resolution of the board of directors of Covance Central Laboratory Services Inc., a Delaware corporation and the general partner of the Shareholder (the "General Partner") and the shareholders of the General

Partner authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement and approving the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein and therein, (B) copies of the certificate of incorporation of the General Partner certified by the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and the bylaws of the General Partner, and (C) incumbency of each individual signing this Agreement and any other Transaction Document on behalf of the General Partner, each certified by the secretary of the General Partner;

- (A) a resolution of the General Partner authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement and any other Transaction Document to which the Shareholder is a party and approving the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein and therein, (B) copies of the certificate of limited partnership certified by the Secretary of State of the State of Indiana and the limited partnership agreement of the Shareholder, and (C) incumbency of each individual signing this Agreement and any other Transaction Document on behalf of the Shareholder, each certified by a person expressly authorized to act on behalf of the Shareholder;
- (A) a resolution of the board of directors of the Company and a resolution of the Shareholder authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement and any other Transaction Document to which the Company is a party and approving the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein and therein, (B) copies of the articles of incorporation of the Company certified by the Department of State of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the bylaws of the Company, and (C) incumbency of each individual signing this Agreement and any other Transaction Document on behalf of the Company, each certified by the secretary thereof;
- (v) letters of resignation of the members of the Company's Board of Directors and officers, which shall take effect as of the Closing Date;
- (vi) the Company shall register the Target Shares in the name of the Acquirer in the Company's share register and provide evidence thereof to the Acquirer;
- (vii) good standing certificates of each of the Parent, the General Partner, the Shareholder, Covance NPA and the Company dated within ten (10) business days before Closing,
- (viii) a receipt for the Closing Payment;
- (A) the articles of incorporation of the Predecessor Entity (as defined herein), (B) the articles of incorporation of Covance
 (ix) CSS Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation (C) the articles of incorporation of Covance NPA Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation ("Covance NPA"), (D) the articles of merger with respect to the Migratory Merger (as defined herein) filed

with each of the Secretary of State of the State of Wisconsin and the Department of State of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and (E) the articles of division of the Company filed with the Department of State of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, each certified by, as the case may be, the Department of State of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or the Secretary of State of the State of Wisconsin,

- (A) a resolution of each of the board of directors of the Predecessor Entity, the board of directors of the Company and the Shareholder authorizing the Migratory Merger and approving the consummation of the transactions contemplated therein,
- (x) and (B) a joint resolution of the board of directors of the Company and the Shareholder authorizing the Division, , each certified by, with respect to the Predecessor Entity and the Company, the secretary thereof, and with respect to the Shareholder, a person expressly authorized to act on behalf of the Shareholder, and
- the agreements, documents and certificates required to be delivered under Section 7.1, but only to the extent such agreements, documents, and certificates are not required to have been delivered prior to Closing pursuant to this Agreement (which such agreements, documents and certificates shall be delivered as of the date specified), and subject to the further requirement that such agreements, documents and certificates have been delivered in accordance with this Agreement.
- (b) **Deliveries by the Acquirer**. At the Closing, the Acquirer shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Covance Parties the following:
 - (A) a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Acquirer authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement and any other Transaction Document to which it is a party and approving the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein
 - (i) and therein, (B) copies of the certificate of incorporation of the Acquirer and the bylaws of the Acquirer, and (C) incumbency of each individual signing this Agreement and any other Transaction Document on behalf of the Acquirer, each certified by the secretary thereof;
 - (ii) the Closing Payment by wire transfer to one or more bank accounts in the United States designated by the Shareholder pursuant to written instructions from the Covance Parties to the Acquirer;
 - the agreements, documents and certificates required to be delivered under Section 7.2 to the Covance Parties, but only to the extent such agreements, documents, certificates are not required to have been delivered prior to Closing pursuant to this
 - (iii) Agreement (which such agreements, documents and certificates shall be delivered as of the date specified), and subject to the further requirement that such agreements, documents and certificates have been delivered in accordance with this Agreement; and

- (iv) a good standing certificate of the Acquirer dated within ten (10) business days before Closing.
- (c) Other Deliveries. The closing certificates and other documents required to be delivered at the Closing pursuant to this Agreement shall be exchanged.

Timing of Closing. The Parties acknowledge and agree that following execution and delivery of all of the documents and instruments described or referenced in Section 2.4, the Covance Parties shall cause the Company to take the action described in Section 2.4(a)(vi) hereof, after which Acquirer shall deliver the Closing Payment to the Shareholder as contemplated by Section 2.4(b)(ii).

- Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge and agree that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement constitute a single, integrated transaction, and none of the documents to be delivered or actions to be taken at Closing shall be deemed to have been delivered or taken until such time as all such documents have been delivered and actions taken.
- Waiver of Rights. Each of the Covance Parties waives any and all pre-emptive rights, rights of first refusal and any other rights which it may have to acquire the Target Shares, or any other shares of capital stock of the Company, pursuant to the articles of incorporation of the Company or any other instrument, document or agreement to which it is a party.

2.7 Earnout.

- Earnout Payment. The "Earnout" shall equal, to the extent achieved, the aggregate Earnout Payments. An "Earnout Payment" shall be payable to the Parent (or such other Affiliate of the Parent as it shall so designate by notice to the Acquirer from time to time) for each of the 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 calendar years. The Earnout Payment with respect to any such calendar year shall be equal to:
 - (i) fifty percent (50%) of the portion of Earnout Revenue with respect to such calendar year in excess of the threshold of Eighteen Million Dollars (\$18,000,000) received during such calendar year by the Acquirer;

plus

(ii) the Backlog Earnout Revenue received during such calendar year;

provided, however, that the Earnout Payments shall not exceed, in the aggregate, Eight Million Dollars (\$8,000,000); provided, further, that for the 2007 calendar year, the threshold for determining the Earnout Revenue shall be equal to: (x) \$18,000,000, multiplied by (A)(I) the number of calendar days from and including the Closing Date to and including December 31, 2007, divided by (B) 365.

(b) Timing. Within sixty (60) days after the end of each calendar year, the Acquirer shall deliver to the Parent a schedule setting forth in reasonable detail the Acquirer's calculation of the Earnout Payment for such period, and, to the extent an Earnout Payment has been achieved with respect to any calendar year, pay the Parent by wire transfer (to an account designated by Parent to the Acquirer by notice) the full Earnout Payment for such calendar year.

Dispute Resolution. In the event that the Covance Parties disagree with the computation of any Earnout Payment, the Covance Parties shall provide written notice of their objections thereto, which notice shall state the basis of the Covance Parties' objections in reasonable detail (each, an "Earnout Payment Dispute Notice") within thirty (30) days after the Acquirer's payment of such Earnout Payment to the Covance Parties. If the Covance Parties do not deliver an Earnout Payment Dispute Notice within the thirty (30) day period following the payment by the Acquirer of any Earnout Payment, the calculation of such shall be final and binding on the Parties. For the sake of clarity, such thirty (30)-day dispute period shall apply only to the most recent Earnout Payment, and the Covance Parties shall not dispute any Earnout Payment paid before the then most recent Earnout Payment. If the Covance Parties timely deliver an Earnout Payment Dispute Notice, then any undisputed amount shall be paid promptly, and during the twenty (20)-day period following such delivery, the Acquirer and the Covance Parties shall attempt to resolve any differences that they may have with respect to any matters specified in such Earnout Payment Dispute Notice (which resolution, if any, shall be final and binding on all Parties). If, at the end of such twenty (20)-day period, the Parties shall have failed to reach written agreement with respect to all such matters, then, any matter properly specified in the Earnout Payment Dispute Notice with respect to which agreement has been reached shall be paid promptly, and all such matters properly specified in the Earnout Payment Disputed Matters")

shall be submitted to and arbitrated by an independent international certified public accounting firm mutually selected by the Parties (the "Earnout Payment Arbitrator"). The Earnout Payment Arbitrator shall act promptly, and the Earnout Payment Arbitrator's decision with respect to all Earnout Payment Disputed Matters shall be final and binding upon the Parties. The prevailing Party in the arbitration shall be entitled to the reimbursement from the non-prevailing Party of the prevailing Party's reasonable attorney's and accountant's fees and costs incurred in connection with the arbitration. For purposes of this Section 2.7(c), the prevailing Party shall be deemed to be the Party whose computation of the Earnout Payment as submitted to the Earnout Payment Arbitrator is closest to the amount of the Earnout Payment as finally determined by the Earnout Payment is within twenty percent (20%) of the amount of the Earnout Payment as finally determined by the Earnout Payment Arbitrator, then each Party shall be responsible for its fees and costs for the arbitration process. To the extent that the full Earnout Payment due and payable to Parent for a particular calendar year is not paid within sixty (60) days after the end of such calendar year, Acquirer shall pay, in addition to any additional portion of the Earnout Payment otherwise due and payable, interest on any such unpaid portion of the Earnout Payment due and

payable to Parent at a rate of five percent (5%) per annum commencing on the date that is sixty (60) days after the end of such calendar year and continuing through and including the date on which the unpaid Earnout Payment is paid. To the extent that a physical location is necessary for any arbitration under this Section, such arbitration shall be conducted in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Any arbitration under this Section shall be conducted in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association.

(d) No Set Off. Except as set forth in Section 9.8 hereof, the Acquirer shall not have any right to set off any obligation or liability with respect to the Earnout Payments.

2.8 Purchase Price Adjustment.

Closing Net Working Capital Statement. As soon as practicable after the Closing Date, but in no event later than ninety (90) days after the Closing Date, the Acquirer shall cause to be prepared and delivered by notice to the Covance Parties a statement reflecting the Closing Net Working Capital (the "Closing Net Working Capital Statement"). The Acquirer shall, within five (5)

- business days after a request by the Covance Parties, make available to the Covance Parties at all reasonable times all books and records of the Company reasonably requested of the Acquirer in order for the Covance Parties to be able to evaluate the Acquirer's calculations and methodology in preparing the Closing Net Working Capital Statement.
- Acceptance. If within thirty (30) days following delivery by notice of the Closing Net Working Capital Statement, neither

 (b) Covance Party has provided the Acquirer written notice of its objection as to the Closing Net Working Capital, then the Closing Net Working Capital calculated by the Acquirer shall be final and binding on the Parties (the "Acceptance Date").
 - Closing Net Working Capital Adjustment Amount. If the Closing Net Working Capital is less than the Target Net Working Capital, then the difference, determined by subtracting the Closing Net Working Capital from the Target Net Working Capital shall be paid to the Acquirer by the Shareholder within five (5) business days after the Acceptance Date by wire transfer to an account specified by the Acquirer by notice to the Shareholder. If the Closing Net Working Capital is greater than the Target Net Working
- (c) Capital, determined by subtracting the Target Net Working Capital from the Closing Net Working Capital, the difference shall be paid to the Shareholder within five (5) business days after the Acceptance Date by wire transfer by the Acquirer to an account specified by the Covance Parties by notice to the Acquirer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that the difference between the Closing Net Working Capital and the Target Net Working Capital is less than \$15,000 in either direction, then no adjustment or other payment in respect of such adjustment shall be made.

Dispute Resolution. In the event that any Covance Party disagrees with the computation of the Closing Net Working Capital as reflected on the Closing Net Working Capital Statement, the Covance Parties shall provide written notice of their objections thereto, which notice shall state the basis of the Covance Parties' objections in reasonable detail (a "Working Capital Dispute Notice") within thirty (30) days after the delivery by notice of the Closing Net Working Capital Statement to the Covance Parties. If the Covance Parties do not timely deliver by notice a Working Capital Dispute Notice, the Net Working Capital as set forth on the Closing Net Working Capital Statement shall be final and binding on the Parties. If the Covance Parties timely deliver by notice a Working Capital Dispute Notice, then any undisputed amount shall be final and binding on all Parties, and during the twenty (20) day period following such delivery, the Acquirer and the Covance Parties shall attempt to resolve any differences that they may have with respect to any matters specified in the Working Capital Dispute Notice (which resolution, if any, shall be final and binding on all Parties). If, at the end of such twenty (20) day period, the Parties shall have failed to reach written agreement with respect to all such matters, then, any matter specified in the Working Capital Dispute Notice with respect to which agreement has been reached shall be final and binding on all Parties, and all such matters specified in the Working Capital Dispute Notice with respect to which an agreement has not been reached (the "Working Capital Disputed Matters") shall be submitted to and arbitrated by an independent international certified public accounting firm selected mutually by the Parent and the Acquirer (the "Working Capital Arbitrator"). The Working Capital Arbitrator shall consider only the Working Capital Disputed Matters and shall be required to determine all components of Closing Net Working Capital in accordance with this Agreement and the definition of Net Working Capital as contained herein. The Working Capital Arbitrator shall act promptly, and the Working Capital Arbitrator's decision with respect to all Working Capital Disputed Matters shall be final and binding upon the Parties. The prevailing Party in the arbitration shall be entitled to the reimbursement from the non-prevailing Party of the prevailing Party's reasonable attorney's and accountant's fees and costs incurred in connection with the arbitration. For purposes of this Section 2.8(d), the prevailing Party shall be deemed to be the Party whose computation of the Closing Net Working Capital as submitted to the Working Capital Arbitrator is closest to the amount of the Closing Net Working Capital as finally determined by the Working Capital Arbitrator. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if neither Party's computation of the Closing Net Working Capital is within twenty percent (20%) of the amount of the Closing Net Working Capital as finally determined by the Working Capital Arbitrator, then each Party shall be responsible for its fees and costs for the arbitration process. To the extent that a physical

under this Section shall be conducted in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association.

location is necessary for any arbitration under this Section, such shall be conducted in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Any arbitration

- (e) Purchase Price Adjustment. Any amounts paid pursuant to this Section 2.8 shall be aggregated and referred to herein as a "Purchase Price Adjustment."
- 2.9 Additional Backlog Payments.
- (a) Unsigned and On Hold Backlog.
 - With respect to the Contracts identified on Schedule 2.9(a)(i) (collectively, the "Unsigned Backlog"), an Unsigned Backlog Payment shall be payable by the Acquirer to the Parent (or such other Affiliate of the Parent as it shall so designate by notice to the Acquirer from time to time) on the earlier to occur of (A) execution of a written contract relating to the applicable portion of the Unsigned Backlog or (B) the date of the Company's first recognition of Revenue relating to the applicable
 - (i) portion of the Unsigned Backlog. An "Unsigned Backlog Payment" shall be equal to fifty-five percent (55%) of the aggregate dollar value of the (X) Services already provided under such written contract on or after September 30, 2007 until the earlier of the date of its execution or the first recognition of Revenue thereunder *plus* (Y) Services to be provided under such written contract by its terms over the life of such written contract (which excludes, for the sake of clarity, the aggregate dollar value of Services under (X) above).
 - With respect to the written contracts identified on Schedule 2.9(a)(ii) (collectively, the "On Hold Backlog"), an On Hold Backlog Payment shall be payable by the Acquirer to the Parent (or such other Affiliate of the Parent as it shall so designate by notice to the Acquirer from time to time) on the date of the Company's recognition of Revenue relating to the applicable
 - (ii) portion of the On Hold Backlog. An "On Hold Backlog Payment" shall be equal to fifty-five percent (55%) of the aggregate dollar value of Services to be provided under such written contract and set forth opposite such written contract on Schedule 2.9(a)(ii). The Unsigned Backlog Payments and the On Hold Backlog Payments shall collectively be referred to as "Additional Backlog Payments."
 - (b) Timing. Within thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar month, the Acquirer shall (i) deliver by notice to the Parent a schedule setting forth in reasonable detail the Acquirer's calculation of any Additional Backlog Payments that became payable in the preceding calendar month (each, a "Monthly Backlog Notice"), and (ii) pay the Parent by wire transfer (to an account designated by Parent) the aggregate Additional Backlog Payments for such preceding calendar month.
 - Dispute Resolution. In the event that the Covance Parties disagree with the computation of any Unsigned Backlog Payment or On (c) Hold Backlog Payment, the Covance Parties shall provide written notice of their objections thereto, which notice shall state the basis of the Covance Parties' objections in reasonable detail

(an "Additional Backlog Payment Dispute Notice") within thirty (30) days after receipt of a Monthly Backlog Notice by the Covance Parties, If the Covance Parties do not deliver an Additional Backlog Payment Dispute Notice within the thirty (30) day period following the receipt of a Monthly Backlog Notice, the calculation of such shall be final and binding on the Parties. If the Covance Parties timely deliver an Additional Backlog Payment Dispute Notice, then during the twenty (20)-day period following such delivery, the Acquirer and the Covance Parties shall attempt to resolve any differences that they may have with respect to any matters specified in such Additional Backlog Payment Dispute Notice (which resolution, if any, shall be final and binding on all Parties). If, at the end of such twenty (20)-day period, the Parties shall have failed to reach written agreement with respect to all such matters, then, any matter properly specified in the Additional Backlog Payment Dispute Notice with respect to which an agreement has not been reached (the "Additional Backlog Payment Disputed Matters") shall be submitted to and arbitrated by an independent international certified public accounting firm mutually selected by the Parties (the "Additional Backlog Payment Arbitrator"). The Additional Backlog Payment Arbitrator shall act promptly, and the Additional Backlog Payment Arbitrator's decision with respect to all Additional Backlog Payment Disputed Matters shall be final and binding upon the Parties. The prevailing Party in the arbitration shall be entitled to the reimbursement from the non-prevailing Party of the prevailing Party's reasonable attorney's and accountant's fees and costs incurred in connection with the arbitration. For purposes of this Section 2.9(c), the prevailing Party shall be deemed to be the Party whose computation of the applicable Unsigned Backlog Payment or On Hold Backlog Payment as submitted to the Additional Backlog Payment Arbitrator is closest to the amount of the Unsigned Backlog Payment or On Hold Backlog Payment, as applicable, as finally determined by the Additional Backlog Payment Arbitrator, Notwithstanding the foregoing, if neither Party's computation of the applicable Unsigned Backlog Payment or On Hold Backlog Payment is within twenty percent (20%) of the amount of the Unsigned Backlog Payment or On Hold Backlog Payment, as applicable, as finally determined by the Additional Backlog Payment Arbitrator, then each Party shall be responsible for its fees and costs for the arbitration process. To the extent that a physical location is necessary for any arbitration under this Section, such arbitration shall be conducted in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Any arbitration under this Section shall be conducted in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association.

(d) No Set Off. Except as set forth in Section 9.8 hereof, the Acquirer shall not have any right to set off any obligation or Liability with respect to the Additional Backlog Payments.

Parent's Right to Audit. Parent shall, upon five (5) days prior written notice to the Acquirer and at Parent's expense, have the right, during the normal business hours of the Acquirer, to an audit that is both reasonable in scope and manner, of the relevant books, records, work papers and related information of the Acquirer in connection with any payments to Parent or any Affiliate thereof under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 3 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COVANCE PARTIES

To induce the Acquirer to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, and understanding that the Acquirer is relying on these representations and warranties in agreeing to do so, the Covance Parties hereby jointly and severally make the representations and warranties to the Acquirer, as of the Closing Date, except as set forth in the corresponding section of the disclosure schedule attached hereto (the "**Disclosure Schedule**").

3.1 Division; Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries and Other Interests.

Covance Cardiac Safety Services Inc., a Wisconsin corporation (the "**Predecessor Entity**") was duly and effectively merged (the "**Migratory Merger**") with and into the Company. The Company was the surviving corporation of the Migratory Merger. Upon effectiveness of the Migratory Merger, the name of the Company was duly and effectively changed from Covance CSS Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation, to Covance Cardiac Safety Services Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation. Upon effectiveness of the Migratory Merger, the Company succeeded to all of the assets and liabilities (including, without limitation, any Liabilities) of the Predecessor Entity. Promptly following the effectiveness of the Migratory Merger, the Company was duly and effectively divided (the "**Division**"). The resulting corporations of the Division were the Company, as the surviving corporation of the Division, and Covance NPA, as the new corporation of the Division. Pursuant to, and in accordance with the terms of, the Division, (i) all assets and liabilities (including, without limitation, any Liabilities) of the Company relating to non-pharmaceutical testing services,

and liabilities (including, without limitation, any Liabilities) of the Company relating to non-pharmaceutical testing services, including, without limitation, all assets and liabilities (including, without limitation, any Liabilities) attributable to the Section 3.14(t) Contracts were duly and effectively allocated to Covance NPA, (ii) from and after the effective time of the Division, the Company was free of all liabilities (including, without limitation, any Liabilities) relating to non-pharmaceutical testing services, including, without limitation, all assets and liabilities (including, without limitation, any Liabilities) attributable to the Section 3.14(t) Contracts. Neither the Plan of Division adopted by the Company with respect to the Division, the consummation of the Division nor the allocation of liabilities between the Company and Covance NPA as a result of the Division (i) effected any fraud on minority shareholders or shareholders without voting rights, (ii) effected any violation of law or (iii) constituted any fraudulent transfer, including without limitation, a fraudulent transfer under 12 Pa.C.S. Ch. 51 (relating to fraudulent transfers).

The Company has authorized share capital stock of 17,897,000 shares, consisting of 10,000,000 shares of Common Stock with a par value of \$0.01 each and 7,897,000 shares of Preferred Stock with a par value of \$0.01 each, of which authorized share capital, 4,925,805.46 shares of Common Stock are issued and outstanding, and no other shares of capital stock are issued or outstanding. All of the Target Shares (i) are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and (ii) are owned by the Shareholder, free and clear of all Liens or

any other rights of others. There are no outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, puts, calls, rights, exchangeable or exercisable or convertible securities or other commitments, transactions, arrangements, understandings or agreements of any character relating to the issued or unissued capital stock, or other equity interests or other securities of the Company or otherwise obligating the Company to issue, transfer, sell, purchase, repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any such securities. The Company does not have any direct or indirect Subsidiaries.

Each of the Company, the Parent, Covance NPA and the General Partner is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its respective jurisdiction of organization. The Shareholder is a limited partnership duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of Indiana. The Company is duly qualified or licensed, and in good standing to do business in each jurisdiction in which the property owned, leased or operated by it or the nature of the business conducted by it makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except in such jurisdictions where the failure to be so duly qualified or licensed and in good standing does not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Company Material Adverse Effect. Each of such jurisdictions where the Company is so qualified are listed in Section 3.1(c) of the Disclosure Schedule. The Company has full corporate power to carry on and conduct its business and carry on all of its activities as it is now conducts and has since its organization been conducted, and to own, lease and operate the assets of its business. The Covance Parties have delivered to the

- (c) Acquirer accurate and complete copies of the articles of incorporation or certificate of incorporation, as applicable, the bylaws and all other organizational or governing documents for the Predecessor Entity, the Company, Covance NPA and the General Partner, and each thereof is in full force and effect certified as such by each secretary thereof. The Covance Parties have delivered to the Acquirer accurate and complete copies of the certificate of limited partnership and the limited partnership agreement for the Shareholder, each of which is in full force and effect certified as such by a person expressly authorized to act on behalf of the Shareholder. The Covance Parties have delivered to the Acquirer the articles of merger with respect to the Migratory Merger filed with each of the Secretary of State of the State of Wisconsin and the Department of State of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and the articles of division of the Company filed with the Department of State of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, each certified by, as the case may be, the Department of State of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or the Secretary of State of the State of Wisconsin.
- The Shareholder has good and marketable title to the Target Shares, free and clear of any and all Liens or any other rights of others. No Covance Party is a party to or bound by any option, sale agreement, shareholder agreement, pledge, proxy, voting trust, power of attorney, restriction on transfer or other agreement or instrument which relates to the ownership, voting or transfer of any of the Target Shares, and the Target Shares are not subject to any of the foregoing agreements, instruments, powers or rights. The Shareholder has the sole and absolute right, power and authority to sell, assign and transfer the Target Shares as contemplated

Authority and Authorization. Each of the Company, the General Partner, and the Parent has all requisite corporate power and authority, and the Shareholder has all requisite limited partnership power and authority, to execute and deliver this Agreement, the General Release (as defined below), the Exclusive Marketing Agreement (collectively with this Agreement, the Transition Services Agreement and the General Release, the "Transaction Documents") and any other agreements or instruments entered into in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement which it is or will be a party, to observe and perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated to be consummated by it by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document. Each of the Predecessor Entity and the Company had all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver each agreement and instrument entered into in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Migratory Merger and Division, to observe and perform its obligations thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated by it by the Migratory Merger and the Division. The execution and delivery by each of the Company, the Predecessor Entity, the Shareholder and the Parent of this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents and any document or instrument contemplated by the Migratory Merger or the Division to which it is a party or signatory, the observance and performance by each of the Company, the Predecessor Entity, the General Partner, the Shareholder and the Parent of its obligations hereunder, under the other Transaction Documents and under any document or instrument contemplated by the Migratory Merger or the Division, to which it is a party or signatory and the consummation by it of the transactions contemplated for it by this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents and the Migratory Merger or the Division, has been duly and validly authorized by all necessary action on its part, and no further or other action including, without limitation, any action of the Company, the Predecessor Entity, the General Partner, the Shareholder, the Parent or the stockholders of, respectively, the Company, the Predecessor Entity, the General Partner or the Parent or the partners of the Shareholder is required with respect to any of the foregoing. This Agreement has been, and each other Transaction Document upon the execution and delivery thereof will be duly and validly executed and delivered by each of the Company, the General Partner, the Shareholder and the Parent and each Transaction Document constitutes, or will constitute upon execution and delivery, to the extent party thereto (and assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties hereto and thereto), a legal, valid and binding obligation of each of the Company, the General Partner, the Shareholder and the Parent enforceable against, to the extent party thereto, each in accordance with its respective terms, except as enforceability may be limited by principles of equity or public policy and subject to the laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors and rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable remedies.

- No Breach, Default, Violation or Consent. The execution and delivery by each of the Company, the Shareholder and the Parent of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is or will be a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not:
 - Breach or result in a default (or an event which, with the giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, would constitute a default), require any consent or give to others any rights of termination, acceleration, suspension, revocation, cancellation or amendment of any material agreement to which the Company, the Predecessor Entity, the General Partner or any Covance Party is a party or by which any of them or any of their respective assets are bound or subject;
 - Breach or otherwise violate any order, writ, judgment, injunction or decree issued by any court, tribunal, adjudicatory authority, governmental official or entity to which the Company, the General Partner or any Covance Party or any of their respective assets are bound or subject;
 - (c) Result in the creation of any Lien on the Company's assets or the Target Shares;
 - Violate, or give any Person the right to challenge any of the transactions contemplated hereby or by any of the other Transaction

 Documents or to exercise any remedy or obtain any relief under, any law, rule, regulation, ordinance or code of any governmental entity (each a "Governmental Rule") to which the Company, the General Partner or any Covance Party or any of their respective business or assets is subject or by which they are bound;
 - (e) Require any consent, authorization, approval, exemption or other action by, or any filing, registration or qualification with, any Person; or
 - Violate any provision of the charter or other organizational documents of the Company, the Shareholder, the General Partner or the Parent, including, without limitation, the bylaws of the Company, the General Partner or the Parent, or the limited partnership agreement of the Shareholder or any resolutions adopted by the board of directors of the Company, the General Partner or the Parent, or the applicable governing body of the Shareholder.

3.4 Financial Statements.

The Company has delivered to the Acquirer (i) the unaudited balance sheets (the "Balance Sheets") of the Predecessor Entity as of December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 and, as of March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2004, 2005 and 2006 and March 31, June 30, 2007 and September 30, 2007 (September 30, 2007 being referred to herein as the "Balance Sheet Date") and (ii) the unaudited statements of operations (collectively with the Balance Sheets, the "Company Financials") for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 and the three-month periods ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2004, 2005 and 2006 and March 31 and June 30, 2007, and for the three-month period ended September 30, 2007.

- The Company Financials fairly present, and any financial statements of the Company and the Predecessor Entity prepared after the date of this Agreement and at or prior to the Closing will fairly present, in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Company and the Predecessor Entity as of, and for the periods presented, subject in the case of interim financials to normal year-end adjustments. The Company Financials are correct and complete in all material respects and were prepared in accordance with the books and records of the Company and the Predecessor Entity in accordance with GAAP consistently applied during the periods involved, except as may be noted therein.
 - The Company has implemented and maintained a system of internal accounting controls and financial reporting that are designed to provide reasonable assurances regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP. Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity (i) has any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of its internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect in any respect the ability of the Company or the Predecessor Entity to record, process, summarize and report financial data, (ii) has any Knowledge of (nor does any Covance Party have any Knowledge of) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves the Company's or the Predecessor Entity's management or other employees, or any personnel of any Covance Party, who have a significant role in the preparation of financial statements or the internal controls utilized by the Company or the Predecessor Entity, or (iii) have any Knowledge of (nor does any Covance Party have any Knowledge of) any claim or allegation regarding any of the foregoing (other than claims or allegations that have been duly investigated and found not to involve any of the foregoing) that has
- (d) The books of account and related records of the Company and the Predecessor Entity fairly reflect in reasonable detail the assets, liabilities and transactions of the Company and the Predecessor Entity in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied.

caused or could reasonably be expected to cause a Company Material Adverse Effect.

- The Company does not have any Liability, indebtedness, expense, claim, deficiency, guaranty or endorsement of any type, in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000) individually or Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000) in the aggregate that is not clearly disclosed, in reasonable detail, on the face of the Company Financials or on Section 3.4(e) of the Disclosure Schedule.
- Other than the Migratory Merger or the Division, since the Balance Sheet Date: (i) each the Company and the Predecessor Entity (f) has conducted its business only in the ordinary course; (ii) there has been no change in the financial condition, results of operations, business, properties, assets, Liabilities or prospects of each

of the Company and the Predecessor Entity that has resulted, or could reasonably be expected to result, in a Company Material Adverse Effect; and (iii) neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has authorized or paid any dividend or other distribution in respect of its capital shares and has not, directly or indirectly, redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired any of its capital shares.

Section 3.4(g) of the Disclosure Schedule fairly presents the Backlog of the Company and the Predecessor Entity in all material

respects. Section 3.4(g) of the Disclosure Schedule lists each customer of the Company and the Predecessor Entity for which the Company and the Predecessor Entity have included any Services in the Backlog, together with (i) the Contract dollar value of Services for each of the customers included in the Backlog and (ii) the amount of anticipated and aggregate cash payments to still be received from each customer included in the Backlog after September 30, 2007. The Backlog reflects the Covance Parties' and the Company's projected anticipated and aggregate cash payments from the Contracts, and all such Contracts were entered into in the ordinary course of business and remain in full force and effect as of the date hereof; *provided*, that, for the sake of clarity, no oral Contracts or other oral arrangements are included in Backlog. Other than for cancellations in the ordinary course of business and at a rate consistent with past experience of the Company or the Predecessor Entity (of which cancellations, none of the Parent, the Shareholder, or the Company has any Knowledge), none of the Parent, the Shareholder or the Company has any reason to believe that the Backlog will not be converted to Revenue from Services to be provided in accordance with the terms of the relevant Contract.

- (h) Except as set forth on Section 3.4(h) of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no intercompany Liabilities or payables of the Company.

 Any intercompany Liability or payable of the Company listed on Section 3.4(h) of the Disclosure Schedule and any other amount owing from the Company to any Covance Party or any Affiliate thereof shall be cancelled and forgiven upon execution and delivery of the General Release.
- (i) Section 3.4(i) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete aging receivables report of the Company and the Predecessor Entity as of the Balance Sheet Date.
- (j) Section 3.4(j) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete fixed assets report of the Company and the Predecessor Entity as of the Balance Sheet Date.
- or any director, officer, employee, auditor, accountant or representative of the Company or the Predecessor Entity, has received or otherwise had or obtained Knowledge of any material complaint, allegation, assertion or claim, whether written or oral, regarding the accounting or auditing practices, procedures, methodologies or methods of the Company or the Predecessor Entity or, in either case, its internal

Since January 1, 2004, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, (i) none of the Company, the Predecessor Entity

accounting controls relating to periods after January 1, 2004, including any material complaint, allegation, assertion or claim that the Company or the Predecessor Entity has engaged in questionable accounting or auditing practices and (ii) no attorney representing the Company or the Predecessor Entity, whether or not employed by the Company or the Predecessor Entity, has reported evidence of a material violation of securities laws, breach of fiduciary duty or similar violation, relating to periods after January 1, 2004, by the Company, the Predecessor Entity or any of the Company's or the Predecessor Entity's officers, directors (or any committee thereof), employees or agents or, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, to any director or officer of the Company or the Predecessor Entity.

3.5 Tax Matters.

- (i) All Tax Returns required to be filed by or on behalf of the Company and the Predecessor Entity have been duly and timely filed with the appropriate Taxing Authority in all jurisdictions in which such Tax Returns are required to be filed (after giving effect to any valid extensions of time in which to make such filings), and all such Tax Returns are true, complete and correct in all material respects; and
- (a) (ii) all Taxes payable (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) by or on behalf of the Company and the Predecessor Entity, have been fully and timely paid. With respect to any period for which Tax Returns have not yet been filed or for which Taxes are not yet due or owing, the Company has made due and sufficient accruals for such Taxes in its financial statements and its books and records. All required estimated Tax payments sufficient to avoid any underpayment penalties or interest have been made by or on behalf of the Company and the Predecessor Entity.
- Each of the Company and the Predecessor Entity has complied with all applicable laws relating to the payment and withholding of Taxes and has duly and timely withheld and paid over to the appropriate Taxing Authority all amounts required to be so withheld and paid under all applicable laws.
- The Acquirer has received complete copies of (i) all federal, state, local and foreign income or franchise Tax Returns of the Company or the Predecessor Entity relating to the taxable periods beginning January 1, 2003 or later and (ii) any audit report issued within the last three (3) years relating to any Taxes due from or with respect to the Company or the Predecessor Entity.
- (d) No claim has been made by a Taxing Authority in a jurisdiction where the Company or the Predecessor Entity has not filed Tax Returns such that the Company or the Predecessor Entity is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction.
- (e) All deficiencies asserted or assessments made as a result of any examinations by any Taxing Authority of the Tax Returns of, or including, the Company or the Predecessor Entity have been fully paid, and there are no other audits or

investigations by any Taxing Authority in progress, nor has any Covance Party, the Company or the Predecessor Entity received any written notice from any Taxing Authority that it intends to conduct such an audit or investigation. No issue has been raised by a Taxing Authority in any prior examination of the Company or the Predecessor Entity in writing which, by application of the same or similar principles, could reasonably be expected to result in a proposed deficiency in respect of such Taxing Authority for any subsequent taxable period.

- Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity, nor any other Person on the Company's or the Predecessor Entity's behalf has executed or entered into any written agreement with, or obtained or applied for any written consents or written clearances or any other Tax rulings from, nor has there been any written agreement executed or entered into on behalf of any of them with any Taxing Authority, relating to Taxes, including any IRS private letter rulings or comparable rulings of any Taxing Authority and closing agreements pursuant to Section 7121 of the Code or any predecessor provision thereof or any similar provision of any applicable law.
- No property owned by the Company or the Predecessor Entity is (i) property required to be treated as being owned by another Person pursuant to the provisions of Section 168(f)(8) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended and in effect immediately prior to the enactment of the Tax Reform Act of 1986, (ii) "tax-exempt use property" within the meaning of Section 168(h)(1) of the Code or (iii) "tax-exempt bond financed property" within the meaning of Section 168(g) of the Code, (iv) "limited use property" within the meaning of Rev. Proc. 2001-28, (v) subject to Section 168(g)(1)(A) of the Code, or (vi) subject to any provision of state, local or foreign law comparable to any of the provisions listed above.
- (h) The Shareholder is not a foreign person within the meaning of Section 1445 of the Code.
- Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity is a party to any tax sharing, allocation, indemnity or similar agreement or arrangement (i) (whether or not written) pursuant to which the Company or the Predecessor Entity will have any obligation to make any payments after the Closing.
- (j) There are no Liens as a result of any unpaid Taxes upon any of the assets of the Company or the Predecessor Entity, except for any Taxes not yet due and payable.
- (k) Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has ever been a member of any consolidated, combined, Affiliated or unitary group of corporations for any Tax purposes, except for any group of which the Parent is the common parent.

- Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has engaged in a "reportable transaction," as set forth in Treas. Reg. § 1.6011-4(b), or any transaction that is the same as or substantially similar to one of the types of transactions that the IRS has determined to be a tax avoidance transaction and identified by notice, regulation or other form of published guidance as a "listed transaction," as set forth in Treas. Reg. § 1.6011-4(b)(2).
- There is no contract, agreement, plan or arrangement covering any Person that, individually or collectively, could give rise to the payment of any amount that would not be deductible by the Company or the Predecessor Entity by reason of Section 280G of the Code or result in the imposition of an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Code.
 - Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has ever constituted a "controlled corporation" (within the meaning of Section 355(a)(1)(A) of the Code) in a distribution of stock qualifying for tax-free treatment under Section 355 of the Code (i) in
- (n) the two (2) years prior to the date hereof or (ii) in a distribution which could otherwise constitute part of a "plan" or "series of related transactions" (within the meaning of Section 355(e) of the Code) in conjunction with the transactions contemplated hereunder.
- Restrictions on Business Activities. There is no non-compete or other agreement or, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, any applicable law to which the Company is, or the Predecessor Entity was, a party or otherwise bound which: (a) has or reasonably could be expected to have the effect of prohibiting or materially impairing any business practices or activities of the Company as currently conducted, or, assuming there is no material change in the business practices or activities of the Company, after Closing; or (b) has or could reasonably be expected to have the effect of prohibiting any lease, license or acquisition of any assets or property (tangible or intangible) by the Company after Closing.
- **Litigation**. There is no pending or, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, threatened investigation, action, litigation, suit, claim or proceeding by or before any court, governmental entity or arbitrator (a) against or affecting the Company or the Predecessor Entity or any of the Company's or the Predecessor Entity's assets or against the directors or officers of the Company or the Predecessor Entity, or (b) adversely affecting the Target Shares or the Covance Parties' respective rights thereto. There are no outstanding judgments, decrees, injunctions or orders of any court or any governmental official or entity against or adversely affecting the Company or the Predecessor Entity or any of the Company's or the Predecessor Entity's assets or the Company's business as currently conducted or adversely affecting the Target Shares or any of the Covance Parties' respective rights thereto. There is no governmental inquiry pending or, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, threatened against or affecting the Company or the Predecessor Entity or any of the Company's or the Predecessor Entity's assets.

Permits. The Company has all permits, licenses, franchises, certificates, authorizations, consents and approvals of governmental entities which are necessary for the ownership or operation of its business or the ownership, operation or use of any of its assets, as such assets are currently used in the operation of its business (collectively, "Permits"), such Permits are in full force and effect, and the Company and the Predecessor Entity are in compliance with all Permits except where the failure to hold or to be in compliance with such permits, licenses, franchises, certificates, authorizations, consents and approvals, either individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in any Company Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has received any notice from any governmental entity that it intends to cancel, revoke, terminate, suspend or not renew any such Permit. Section 3.8 of the Disclosure Schedule contains a list of all such Permits, true, complete and correct copies of which have been furnished to the Acquirer.

3.9 Title to Properties.

The Company owns, or has a valid leasehold interest in, or valid license for, all assets necessary for the conduct of its business as currently conducted. All tangible assets of the Company are in a good state of maintenance and repair and adequate for use in the Company's business to the extent of its current operations. The Company owns no real property. The Company enjoys peaceful and undisturbed possession under all leases under which it is operating, and all such leases are valid and subsisting in full force and

- (a) effect without any default of the Company thereunder and, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, without any default thereunder of any other party thereto. No event has occurred and is continuing which, with due notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default or event of default by the Company (or the Predecessor Entity) under any such lease or agreement or by any other party thereto. The Company's possession of such property has not been disturbed and no claim has been asserted against the Company or the Predecessor Entity that is adverse to its rights in such leasehold interests.
 - The Company has good and marketable title to the assets reflected on the balance sheet as of the Balance Sheet Date, or acquired by the Company or the Predecessor Entity since the Balance Sheet Date other than assets disposed of in the ordinary course of business since the Balance Sheet Date; *provided*, that any such capital or fixed asset acquired or disposed by the Company or the
- (b) Predecessor Entity since the Balance Sheet Date with a value of Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000) individually or Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000) in the aggregate, shall be set forth on Section 3.9(b) of the Disclosure Schedule. All assets reflected on the balance sheet as of the Balance Sheet Date are free and clear of mortgages, pledges, security interests, Liens, charges, claims, restrictions and other encumbrances, except for Permitted Liens.

3.10 Contracts and Commitments.

(a) Section 3.10 of the Disclosure Schedule (organized and formatted in accordance with this Section) contains a list of each written or oral agreement, contract, instrument, lease, commitment or other restriction (collectively, the "Contracts")

to which the Company or the Predecessor Entity is a party or which relates to the business, assets, operations or prospects of the Company or the Predecessor Entity, including without limitation, any of the following types (collectively, the "Material Contracts"):

- (i) leases, licenses, permits, franchises, insurance policies, governmental approvals, and other Contracts, in each case, concerning or relating to real property;
- employment, consulting, agency, collective bargaining, restrictive covenants, non-competition, non-solicitation, non-disclosure, confidentiality or other similar Contracts relating to or for the benefit of current, future or former employees, officers, directors, sales representatives, distributors, dealers, agents, independent contractors or consultants;
- (iii) loan agreements, indentures, letters of credit, mortgages, security agreements, pledge agreements, deeds of trust, bonds, notes, guarantees, and other Contracts relating to the borrowing of money or obtaining of or extension of credit;
- (iv) all Contracts providing in whole or in part for the use of, or limiting the use of, any Intellectual Property Rights;
- (v) brokerage or finders' Contracts;
- (vi) joint venture, partnership and similar Contracts involving a sharing of profits or expenses (including, without limitation, joint research and development and joint marketing Contracts);
- stock purchase agreements, asset purchase agreements and other acquisition or divestiture Contracts, including, without limitation, any Contracts relating to the acquisition, sale, lease or disposal of any assets (other than in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practices) entered into by the Company or the Predecessor Entity within the past five (5) years or involving continuing indemnity or other obligations;
- (viii) sales agency, manufacturer's representative, marketing or distributorship Contracts;
- (ix) Contracts with respect to the representation of Company or the Predecessor Entity or the Company's or the Predecessor Entity's business in foreign countries;
- (x) master lease Contracts providing for the leasing of both: (A) personal property primarily used in, or held for use primarily in connection with, the business of Company and (B) other personal property; and

- (xi) any other Contracts that are material to the business or operations of the Company.
- The Company has all rights and obligations of the Predecessor Entity under each of the Contracts. Each of the Contracts have been duly and validly transferred by virtue of the Migratory Merger from the Predecessor Entity to the Company by operation of law as if the Company is party thereto.
- (b) The Company has delivered to the Acquirer true, complete and correct copies of all written Material Contracts, together with all amendments thereto, and accurate descriptions of all material terms of all oral Material Contracts.
- Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity is in default under any Material Contract, no act or omission by the Company or the Predecessor Entity has occurred which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute such a default under any term or provision of any such Material Contract, and each of the Company and the Predecessor Entity has performed, in all material respects, its obligations under each Material Contract relating to the Services to which it is or was a party.
- (d) Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has violated, in any material respect, any protocol for any study in connection with which either the Company or the Predecessor Entity provides or provided Services under any Material Contract.
- (e) Each of the Material Contracts is valid and in full force and effect.
- To the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, no other party to a Material Contract with the Company is in default under any such Material Contract, and no act or omission has occurred by any party which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute such a default under any term or provision thereof.
- The Predecessor Entity or the Company has paid to Oxford BioSignals (US) Inc., a Delaware corporation ("**Oxford**"), all "Milestone Payments" required to be paid by the Predecessor Entity or the Company pursuant to Section 3.1 of that certain Software License Agreement between Oxford and the Predecessor Entity, which "Milestone Payments," for the sake of clarity, total One Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$150,000).

Customers and Suppliers. Section 3.11 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of the ten (10) largest customers of, and the ten (10) largest suppliers providing goods and services to the Company and the Predecessor Entity for the 12-month period ended 3.11 September 30, 2007, together with a summary description and the approximate dollar amounts of the goods or services provided to or by such Persons during each such period and a summary description of the goods or services provided. The Company's and the Predecessor Entity's relationships with the customers and suppliers set forth on

Section 3.11 of the Disclosure Schedule are on good terms, and, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, no customer or supplier set forth on Section 3.11 of the Disclosure Schedule has any intent to materially reduce its business or discontinue doing business with the Company. There have been no billing disputes between the Company or the Predecessor Entity and any such customer or supplier set forth on Section 3.11 of the Disclosure Schedule involving an amount greater than Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000) during the twenty-four (24) months prior to the date of this Agreement.

liability, fire, casualty, worker's compensation, errors and omissions, directors and officers liability, life, health, disability and other forms of insurance carried by or which otherwise cover the Company and the Predecessor Entity currently, including, with respect to each policy, whether such policy is on an "occurrence" or a "claims made" basis, Deductible or Self-Insured Retention, the name of the carrier, and the expiration date of the current premium period. All such policies are in full force and effect. With respect to those policies on Section 3.12 of the Disclosure Schedule that are "occurrence" basis policies, the Company shall be entitled to the full benefits of such insurance following Closing with respect to occurrences prior to Closing. The Company and the Predecessor Entity have regularly maintained (or maintained for it) all insurance policies in amounts and types required by law. Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity is in default with respect to any provision contained in any insurance policy, nor has the Company or the Predecessor Entity failed to give any notice or present any claim thereunder in accordance with the term of the policies and no cancellation, non-renewal, reduction of coverage or arrearage in premiums has occurred or, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, been threatened or notice thereof given with respect to any policy, nor does any Covance Party or the Company have Knowledge of any grounds therefor. There is no basis for the assertion against the Company of any material retroactive adjustment to the rate or rates of worker's compensation premiums payable by the Company or the Predecessor Entity.

Insurance. Section 3.12 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list and description of all policies of commercial liability, products

Interested Party Transactions. No director, officer or employee of the Company or any Covance Party has, nor has any director, officer or employee of the Predecessor Entity had, any direct or indirect interest in (a) any entity which furnished or sold, or furnishes or sells, services or products that the Company furnishes or sells, or proposes to furnish or sell; (b) any entity that purchases from or sells or furnishes any goods or services to the Company; or (c) any Material Contract; *provided*, *however*, that ownership of no more than one percent (1%) of the outstanding voting stock of a publicly traded corporation shall not be deemed an "interest in any entity" for purposes of this Section 3.13. Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity is indebted to any officer, director, employee, partner, member or agent, and no such Person is indebted to the Company or the Predecessor Entity.

3.14 Compliance with Law.

(a) The operations of the Company and the Predecessor Entity have been, are and will through Closing be conducted in accordance with applicable laws, regulations, ordinances, rules and other binding requirements of any

governmental entity (including without limitation the United States Food and Drug Administration ("FDA")), including, without limitation, all such laws, regulations, ordinances, rules and requirements relating to environmental, antitrust, consumer protection, labor and employment, employee benefits, zoning and land use, currency exchange, immigration, health, occupational safety, pension, securities, defense procurement and trading with the enemy matters, except to the extent that a violation of any of the foregoing is immaterial in both amount and consequence to the Company and the business of the Company. Since January 1, 2000, neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has received any notification of any asserted present or past failure by the Company or the Predecessor Entity to comply with such laws, regulations, ordinances, rules or requirements.

- Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity, nor, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, any Person or entity acting on behalf of the Company or the Predecessor Entity has, directly or indirectly, on behalf of or with respect to the Company or the Predecessor Entity (i) made or received any unreported political contribution, (ii) made or received any payment that was not legal to make or receive, including, without limitation, gratuities to FDA employees, (iii) created or used any "off-book" bank or cash account or "slush fund," or (iv) engaged in any conduct constituting a violation of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended.
- Each of the Company and the Predecessor Entity have either adhered to all applicable FDA Guidance Documents (as defined in 21 CFR 10.115), or used alternative approaches that comply with all relevant statutes and regulations. The Company is currently certified to the ISO 13485 Standard.
 - Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity is the subject of any pending or, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, threatened investigation by the FDA, or any other domestic or foreign regulatory body nor, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, are there any grounds therefor. Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has been notified and, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, none of the Company's or the Predecessor Entity's customers have been notified, of (i) any fraud, untrue statements of material facts, bribery or illegal gratuities ("**Wrongful Acts**"), suspected
- (d) Wrongful Acts, need for a validity assessment or deferral of substantive scientific review pending the outcome of a validity assessment arising out of information submitted by the Company or the Predecessor Entity in connection with any customer's application(s) to the FDA; (ii) investigation by the U.S. Department of Justice, a congressional oversight committee or by any other domestic or foreign enforcement agency regarding the conduct of any customer that is related to services rendered by the Company or the Predecessor Entity; or (iii) the need for the Company or the Predecessor Entity to conduct an internal review of problems or deficiencies identified by the FDA or to submit to the FDA a corrective action operating plan.

- (e) Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has made or makes any claims for third party reimbursement for any medical services rendered.
- Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has submitted any claim for payment, including, without limitation, billing any third party payor or patient for the cost of items or services properly allocable to a research project to any payment program in violation of any laws relating to false claim or fraud, including without limitation the Federal False Claim Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729, or any applicable foreign or domestic false claim or fraud law.
- Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has knowingly or willfully solicited, received, paid or offered to pay any remuneration, directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or kind for the purpose of making or receiving any referral which violated any applicable anti-kickback or similar law, including 42 U.S.C. §1320 a-7b(b) (the "Anti-Kickback Statute"), or any applicable state anti-kickback law. For purposes of this representation, the terms hereof shall have the meaning established by the Anti-Kickback Statute.
 - Section 3.14(h) of the Disclosure Schedule lists all written claims or statements (including all correspondence with governmental entities, intermediaries or carriers) concerning or relating to any federal or state government funded health care program that alleges (i) any violation of any applicable rule, regulation, policy or requirement of any such program with respect to any activity, practice or policy of the Company or the Predecessor Entity; or (ii) any violation of any applicable rule, regulation, policy or requirement of any such program with respect to any claim for payment or reimbursement made by the Company or the Predecessor Entity or any payment or reimbursement paid to the Company or the Predecessor Entity. The Company is not aware of
- (h) the commencement of any investigation or inquiry, or the assertion of any claim or demand (or any grounds therefor) by, any governmental entity, intermediary or carrier with respect to any of the activities, practices, policies or claims of the Company or the Predecessor Entity, or any payments or reimbursements claimed by the Company or the Predecessor Entity, in each case concerning or relating to any federal or state government funded health care program. Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity is, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, as of the date of this Agreement, the subject of any outstanding audit by any government entity, intermediary or carrier and, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, there are no grounds to anticipate any such audit review; in the foreseeable future, except such audits in the ordinary course.
- The Company and the Predecessor Entity have adopted and implemented background check procedures in order to check the background of any person it considers to retain to provide services in any capacity in connection with an approved or pending drug product application or abbreviated drug application is listed in the FDA Office of Regulatory Affairs Debarment List. The FDA has not (i) refused to approve any drug application in which the Company or the Predecessor Entity has participated because of the participation of any person

retained by the Company or the Predecessor Entity in said application; (ii) suspended the distribution of any drugs the development or approval of which was related to conduct of any person retained by the Company or the Predecessor Entity; (iii) removed from its review process any pending applications containing data submitted by the Company or the Predecessor Entity that it has determined to be fraudulent; (iv) imposed sanctions on the Company or the Predecessor Entity or any customer because it has determined that data submitted by the Company were knowingly false or fraudulent; (v) withdrawn any application, pending or approved, submitted by a customer suspected of misconduct related to actions or inactions of the Company or the Predecessor Entity; (vi) conducted a validity assessment or deferred substantive scientific review pending the outcome of a validity assessment arising out of information submitted by the Company or the Predecessor Entity in connection with any customer's application(s) to the FDA; or (vii) suggested voluntary recall, or initiated an FDA-requested recall, of any product that is marketed based on an application that contains data submitted by the Company or the Predecessor Entity that are deemed by the FDA to be unreliable. No individual who was or may have been associated with or involved in wrongful acts identified by the FDA have any substantive authority on matters under the jurisdiction of the FDA.

- Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has been debarred and neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has acquiesced to debarment for any period of time under 21 U.S.C. §335a (and the Sections cross-referenced therein) or been the subject of a debarment hearing or, to the Knowledge of the any Covance Party or the Company, investigation.
- Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity, nor, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, any officer or employee of the Company or the Predecessor Entity has been convicted of any crime or engaged in any conduct that would reasonably be expected to result in debarment under 21 U.S.C. Section 335a or any similar state or foreign law or regulation, and neither the Company, the Predecessor Entity, nor any such individual has been so debarred.
- Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has made any untrue statement of material fact, materially false statements on, or material omissions from, any reports or other submissions, whether oral, written, or electronically delivered, to any customer or to any applicable Medical Product Regulatory Authority or in or from any other records and documentation prepared or maintained to comply with the requirements of any customer or any applicable Medical Product Regulatory Authority relating to any such clinical trial. Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, committed any act, made any statement or failed to make any statement that would breach the FDA Compliance Policy Guide Section 120.100 "Fraud, Untrue Statements of Material Facts, Bribery, and Illegal Gratuities" (CPG 7150.09) set forth in 56 Fed. Reg. 46191 (September 10, 1991) or any similar laws, rules, regulations, policies, or any amendment or modification thereto,

whether under the jurisdiction of the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority.

Except as set forth on Section 3.14(m) of the Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity, nor the facilities owned or used by the Company or the Predecessor Entity are subject to any adverse inspection, finding or deficiency, finding of non-compliance, or any other compliance or enforcement action from or by the FDA or any counterpart regulatory authority in any other applicable jurisdiction, nor have the Company or the Predecessor Entity or, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, any facility owned or used by the Company or the Predecessor Entity, received any regulatory or warning letter. Form 483 warning letter, investigation notice. Section 305 notice (FDA Notice of Possible Criminal Prosecution)

- (m) warning letter, Form 483 warning letter, investigation notice, Section 305 notice (FDA Notice of Possible Criminal Prosecution). There are no pending, or to the Company's or any Covance Party's Knowledge, threatened civil, criminal or administrative actions, suits, demands, claims, hearings, investigations, demand letters, proceedings, complaints or requests for information by the FDA or any counterpart regulatory authority related to the Company or the Predecessor Entity. There is no act, omission, event, or circumstance that would reasonably be expected to give rise to any such action, suit, demand, claim, hearing, investigation, demand letter, proceeding, complaint or request for information or any such liability.
 - None of the Company, any Covance Party or the Predecessor Entity has received any inquiries from any federal, state or other governmental authority regarding the Company's or the Predecessor Entity's negligent or allegedly wrongful handling of
- (n) electronic records or patient information, and neither the Company's nor the Predecessor Entity's policies and practices regarding electronic records or patient information have been rejected by any governmental or non-governmental authority or certification organization that has reviewed them.
- (o) To the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, there has been no unauthorized acquisition of patient information by the Company or the Predecessor Entity which would violate any applicable law.
- (p) The Company and the Predecessor Entity have implemented and maintain written and regularly reviews administrative, physical and technical safeguards, policies and procedures reasonably designed to protect the privacy and security of patient information; to identify and respond to, and notify individuals of, any breaches of security of patient information; and to comply with all applicable domestic and foreign laws, regulations, and contractual commitments concerning patient information.
 - Each of the Company, the Predecessor Entity, and, to the extent the Parent maintains any records of the Company, the Parent, complies, has at all times complied in all material respects and will comply through Closing, with the FDA's "Part 11, Electronic
- (q) Records; Electronic Signatures Scope and Application" guidance document (the "**Part 11 Guidance**"), including without limitation the electronic records retention polices and copies of records policies contained in the Part 11 Guidance. Each of the Company and, to the extent the Parent maintains any records of the Company, the Parent, maintains the ability,

(ii) the International Conference on Harmonisation "Guidance E.6 Good Clinical Practice: Consolidated Guidelines", which the Company and the Parent acknowledge, require records to be retained by the Company (and/or, to the extent applicable, the Parent) until at least two (2) years after the last approval of a marketing application in any International Conference on Harmonisation region (which, for the sake of clarity, are the United States, the European Union and Japan) or at least two (2) years have elapsed

since the formal discontinuation of clinical development of the investigational product.

from its own records, to accurately and promptly retrieve all material electronic records required under the Part 11 Guidance for

Each of the Company, the Predecessor Entity and, to the extent the Parent maintains any records of the Company, the Parent, has, and the Company (and/or, to the extent applicable, the Parent) does and will continue to retain the records referenced in (q) above for longer periods required by any applicable regulatory requirements or by agreement with any customer. To the extent any records retained to enable compliance by the Company with the Part 11 Guidance or Good Clinical Practices were or are maintained on any information technology system that is not owned and in the possession of the Company and in good and working order, such records have been migrated to one or more other information technology systems that are owned and in the Part 11 Guidance or Good Clinical Practices were or are maintained on any information technology system that is not owned and in the possession of a Covance Party and in good and working order, such records have been migrated to one or more other information technology systems that are owned and in the possession of the Company or a Covance Party and in good and working order, and, in each case, validation of such migration has been shown in accordance with the rules and regulations of the FDA. Records relating to any such validation are in the possession of the Company.

28

- Procedures and controls have been developed and implemented to allow data submitted by the Company in support of applications (s) to be reliable and to address Wrongful Acts, if any, such as those that affect data reliability in a manner designed to eliminate repeat occurrences.
 - Section 3.14(t) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth all of the Contracts to which the Predecessor Entity was ever party relating to provision of non-pharmaceutical testing services (the "Section 3.14(t) Contracts"). All of the Section 3.14(t) Contracts (i) have been terminated by the Predecessor Entity, and since the time of such termination the Predecessor Entity has not, and the Company has never, performed any of the Section 3.14(t) Contracts, and (ii) pursuant to the Division, any remaining rights and/or obligations
- (t) thereunder haven been duly and effectively allocated to Covance NPA, such that each of the Company and the Predecessor Entity is free of all liabilities (including, without limitation, any Liabilities) thereunder). The Section 3.14(t) Contracts were terminated as a sole result of the decision of the Covance Parties to terminate them and the Covance Parties acknowledge that their collective decision to cause the Predecessor Entity to terminate the Section 3.14(t) Contracts was made irrespective of the views of any other Person.
- The operations of the Company and the operations of the Predecessor Entity that remained with the Company following the Division, have been conducted in accordance with all applicable provisions of 45 C.F.R. part 164.103 and the applicable regulations codified at 45 C.F.R. parts 160 through 164 ("HIPAA Regulations") promulgated under Title F of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Public Law 104-191, including, without limitation, the administrative, security and privacy requirements thereof. In connection therewith, and not in limitation thereof:
 - Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has been the subject of any complaint filed with or investigation, compliance review or hearing by the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has received any investigational subpoenas or inquiries related to the HIPAA Regulations;
 - The Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services has not imposed, neither any Covance Party nor the Company is aware of any intention or threat to impose, a civil money penalty on the Company or the Predecessor Entity for violation of the HIPAA Regulations; and
 - Each of the Company and the Predecessor Entity has used and disclosed individually identifiable health information (as that (iii) term is defined in the HIPAA Regulations) only as permitted or required under the applicable HIPAA Regulations and any more stringent applicable state law.
- Section 3.14(v) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth all regulatory audits of the Company or the Predecessor Entity conducted by any Person since January 1, 2006. The Covance Parties have delivered to the Acquirer true, complete and correct copies of all written materials relating to any such audits. There is no

issue that was raised during in any regulatory audit of the Company conducted by any Person from and including July 1, 2004 to and including December 31, 2005, that has not been resolved to the satisfaction of the Person conducting such audit.

3.15 Intellectual Property Rights.

Intellectual Property. Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth an accurate and complete list of all (i) registered and unregistered Trademarks, (ii) Patents, (iii) registered Copyrights and (iv) domain names and e-mail addresses included in the

- (a) Company Intellectual Property, in each case identifying the record and beneficial owner thereof and, in the case of any of the foregoing that are owned by a third party and licensed to the Company, indicating whether such license is exclusive or non-exclusive.
 - Action to Protect Intellectual Property. The Company and each of the Covance Parties has taken all commercially reasonable steps to protect the rights of the Company and the Predecessor Entity in the Company Intellectual Property and maintain the confidentiality of all information that at any time constituted a Trade Secret. Neither the Company, the Predecessor Entity nor any Covance Party has disclosed, nor is a party under any contractual or other obligation to disclose, to another Person any Trade Secrets, except pursuant to an enforceable confidentiality agreement or undertaking, and, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, no Person has materially breached any such agreement or undertaking. Without limiting the foregoing, the
- (b) Company, the Predecessor Entity and the Covance Parties have enforced in a commercially reasonable manner, a policy requiring all employees and independent contractors who have participated in the creation of any Intellectual Property that is used by the Company (other than Intellectual Property that is licensed to the Company pursuant to a written license agreement) or have had access to any Trade Secrets to enter into non-disclosure and invention assignment agreements substantially contained in the Company's standard form (which has previously been provided to the Acquirer) and all such employees and independent contractors of the Company (whether or not currently employed or engaged by the Company) or Predecessor Entity have executed and delivered such an agreement.
 - Ownership of Intellectual Property. The Company exclusively owns all right, title and interest in and to all of the Company Intellectual Property in which the Company has, or the Predecessor Entity had, a direct or indirect interest (other than Intellectual Property that is licensed to the Company), including without limitation the Company Intellectual Property of which the Company
- (c) or the Predecessor Entity is identified on Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule as the owner thereof, free and clear of any and all Liens, encumbrances or other adverse ownership claims or interests, and neither the Company, the Predecessor Entity, nor any Covance Party has received any notice or claim challenging the Company's ownership of, or license to, any Company Intellectual Property or suggesting that any other Person has any claim of legal or beneficial ownership or

exclusive rights with respect thereto, nor to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, is there a reasonable basis for any claim that the Company does not so own or license (as the case may be) any of such Company Intellectual Property.

Validity and Enforceability. The Company Intellectual Property (other than Intellectual Property that is licensed to the Company) is valid, enforceable and subsisting in the applicable jurisdictions. Neither the Company, the Predecessor Entity, nor any Covance Party has received any notice or claim challenging the validity or enforceability of any of the Company Intellectual Property or indicating an intention on the part of any Person to bring a claim that any of the Company Intellectual Property is invalid or unenforceable, nor to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company is there a reasonable basis for any claim that any of the Company Intellectual Property is either invalid or unenforceable.

Status and Maintenance of Intellectual Property; Certain Proceedings. All Intellectual Property listed on Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule (other than any material unregistered Trademarks listed therein) has been registered or obtained in accordance with all applicable legal requirements (including, in the case of registered Trademarks, the timely post-registration filing of affidavits of use and incontestability and renewal applications). Each of the Company and the Predecessor Entity has timely paid all filing, examination, issuance, post registration and maintenance fees, annuities and the like associated with or required with respect to all of such Company Intellectual Property that is owned, in whole or in part, by the Company. All Trademarks listed on Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule that are registered in the jurisdictions set forth on Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, and for which applications to register have been filed in such jurisdictions (excluding intent to use applications), have been used in the form appearing in, and in connection with the goods and/or services listed in, their respective registration certificates and applications therefor, respectively, since the dates of first use specified in such registrations and applications. None of such Trademarks has been or is now involved in any opposition or cancellation proceeding and, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, no such action is or has been threatened with respect to any of such Trademarks. Neither the Company, the Predecessor Entity, nor any Covance Party has taken any action or failed to take any action that would result in the abandonment, cancellation, forfeiture, relinquishment, invalidation or unenforceability of any of the Intellectual Property listed on Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule. No Patent listed on Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule has been or is now involved in any interference, reissue or re-examination proceeding and, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, (i) no such action is or has been threatened with respect to any such Patent and (ii) there is no

patent owned by a third party interfering with any such Patent.

License Agreements. Section 3.15(f) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all agreements currently in effect granting to the Company or the Predecessor Entity any right under or with respect to any Intellectual Property used in the business whether conducted by the Company or the Predecessor Entity, other than standard desktop software applications used generally in the operations of the Company or the Predecessor Entity (collectively, "**License-In Agreements**"). No loss or expiration of any of the right of the Company or the Predecessor Entity to use any Intellectual Property licensed to the Company or the Predecessor Entity under any License-In Agreement is pending or reasonably foreseeable or, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, threatened. No licensor under any License-In Agreement has any ownership or exclusive license rights in or with respect to any improvements made by the Company or the Predecessor Entity to the Intellectual Property licensed thereunder. Section 3.15(f) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all license agreements currently in effect under which the Company or the Predecessor Entity licenses or grants any other rights under any Company Intellectual Property owned,

- Section 3.15(f) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all license agreements currently in effect under which the Company or the Predecessor Entity licenses or grants any other rights under any Company Intellectual Property owned, in whole or in part, by the Company or the Predecessor Entity to another Person, excluding non-exclusive internal use licenses granted by the Company or the Predecessor Entity to end user customers of the Company in connection with the business whether conducted by the Company or the Predecessor Entity (collectively, "License-Out Agreements"). The execution, delivery and performance by the Company and the Covance Parties of this Agreement, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, will not result in the loss or impairment of, or give rise to any right of any third party to terminate or reprice or otherwise modify any of the Company's rights or obligations under any License-In Agreement or any License-Out Agreement.
- Sufficiency of the Intellectual Property. The Company Intellectual Property owned, in whole or in part, by the Company and the Intellectual Property licensed to the Company under any License-In Agreement constitutes all the Intellectual Property used in or necessary for the conduct of the Company's business as currently conducted and reasonably anticipated to be conducted in the future, excluding any Intellectual Property relating to standard desktop software applications used generally in the Company's operations.
- No Infringement by the Company or Third Parties; No Violations. None of the products, processes or other technology, content or materials, or any Intellectual Property used, or otherwise commercially exploited by or for the Company or the Predecessor Entity, nor any other current or former activities or operations of the Company or the Predecessor Entity, infringe upon, misappropriate, violate, dilute or constitute the unauthorized use of, any Intellectual Property of any third party, and neither of the Company, the Predecessor Entity nor any Covance Party has received any notice or claim asserting or suggesting that any such infringement, misappropriation, violation, dilution or unauthorized use is or may be occurring, nor, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, is there any reasonable basis therefor. No Intellectual Property is subject to any outstanding order, judgment, decree, or stipulation restricting the use thereof by the Company or the Predecessor Entity.

or, in the case of any Intellectual Property licensed to others, restricting the sale, transfer, assignment or licensing thereof by the Company to any Person. To the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, no third party is misappropriating, infringing, diluting or violating in any material respect any Company Intellectual Property.

Restrictions on Employees. To the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, no employee or independent contractor of the Company is obligated under any agreement or subject to any judgment, decree or order of any court or administrative agency,

(i) or any other restriction that would or may materially interfere with such employee or independent contractor carrying out his or her duties for the Company, or that would materially conflict with the Company Intellectual Property or the Company's business as presently conducted and proposed to be conducted.

3.16 Employee Matters.

(a) Employees.

Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity is a party to any collective bargaining agreement and is not a party to any pending or threatened labor dispute, work stoppage or labor strike, and none is threatened or reasonably anticipated. Except as set forth on Section 3.16(a)(i) of the Disclosure Schedule, since January 1, 2004, neither the Company nor the Predecessor

- (i) Entity has been involved in any labor dispute, grievance, claim, complaint, charge, or litigation relating to employment, labor, safety, wage and hour, or discrimination matters involving any employee, including, without limitation, charges of unfair labor practices, wage claims, or discrimination charges or complaints. Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has engaged in any unfair labor practices within the meaning of the National Labor Relations Act.
 - Each of the Company and the Predecessor Entity (A) is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable foreign, federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations respecting employment, employment practices, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment, employee representation, occupational safety, and wages and hours, in each case, with respect to its employees; (B) has withheld and reported all amounts required by law or by agreement to be withheld and
- (ii) reported from the wages, salaries and other payments to its employees; (C) is not liable for any arrears of wages or any taxes or any penalty for failure to comply with any of the foregoing; and (D) is not liable for any payment to any trust or other fund or to any governmental or administrative authority, with respect to unemployment compensation benefits, social security or other benefits for its employees (other than routine payments to be made in the normal course of business and consistent with past practice).

- All Company employees are employed "at will" by the Company. Each of the Company and the Predecessor Entity has not entered into any agreement on or otherwise promised any employee any definite term of employment. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.16(a)(iii) of the Disclosure Schedule, each of the Company and the Predecessor Entity has not entered into any agreement on or otherwise promised any employee any form or amount of severance or separation benefit.
- (iv) Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has incurred any Liability under the Worker Adjustment Retraining
 Notification Act (the "WARN Act") or similar state or local law which remains unsatisfied, nor is the Company or the
 Predecessor Entity required to give any notice under the WARN Act or any similar state or local law, which has not already been given.
- On or before the Closing Date, the Covance Parties have caused the Company to transfer the employment of each of the individuals listed on Section 3.16(a)(v) of the Disclosure Schedule (the "**Transferred Employees**") to the Parent or one of its Affiliates, such that each of the Transferred Employees is not an employee of the Company as of the Closing Date.

(b) Benefit Plans.

- Section 3.16(b)(i) of the Disclosure Schedule lists all qualified pension or profit sharing plans, deferred compensation, bonus, group insurance contract, other incentive or welfare plan agreement, or arrangement or employee benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA")) currently maintained or contributed to by the Company or the Predecessor Entity, or to which the Company or the Predecessor Entity is required to
- (i) contribute (hereinafter "Employee Benefit Plans"). With respect to each Employee Benefit Plan, the Company has provided or made available to the Acquirer a complete copy of the current plan document or as, if applicable, the current summary plan description and any summary of material modifications thereto and the most recent determination letter received from the IRS for each applicable Employee Benefit Plan. The Company does not, and the Predecessor Entity did not, sponsor any Employee Benefit Plans.
- Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity has ever maintained, contributed to or had any obligation under any defined (ii) benefit pension plan, including, without limitation, any multiemployer pension benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(37)) of ERISA.
- (iii) No fiduciary, party in interest, or disqualified person with respect to any of the Employee Benefit Plans has engaged in any transaction described in

Section 406(a) or 406(b) of ERISA (and not exempt under Section 408 of ERISA) or in any transaction described in Section 4975 of the Code that may result in Liability to the Company.

- No Employee Benefit Plan provides, with respect to employees of the Company, death or medical benefits beyond (iv) termination of service or retirement other than (i) coverage mandated by law or (ii) benefits under an Employee Benefit Plan qualified under Code Section 401(a).
- The Company has made or will accrue prior to the Closing Date all payments and contributions (including insurance (v) premiums) due and payable as of the Closing Date to each Employee Benefit Plan as required to be made under the terms of such Employee Benefit Plan.
 - Each Employee Benefit Plan, in which employees of the Company participate, that is intended to meet the requirements of a "qualified plan" under Code Section 401(a) has received a determination from the IRS that such Employee Benefit Plan is so
- (vi) qualified, or with respect to a prototype plan adopted by the Company, such prototype plan has received an opinion from the IRS that such prototype plan is so qualified, and nothing has occurred since the date of such determination or opinion that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the qualified status of such Employee Benefit Plan.
- In elaboration and not in limitation of the foregoing, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not cause the (vii) Acquirer to incur any Liability or expense which accrued prior to the execution of this Agreement with respect to contributions or benefits under any Employee Benefit Plan applicable to employees of the Company.

Absence of Questionable Payments. Neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity, nor any of the Company's or the Predecessor Entity's directors, officers, agents, employees or other Persons acting on its behalf or for the Company's or the Predecessor Entity's benefit has used any corporate or other funds for unlawful contributions, payments, gifts, or entertainment, made any unlawful expenditures relating to political activity to government officials or others or established or maintained any unlawful or unrecorded funds for such purpose under any foreign, national, territorial, state, province or local statute, ordinance, order, rule or regulation of any type, or accepted or received any unlawful contributions, payments, gifts or expenditures under any foreign, national, territorial, state, province or local statute, ordinance, order, rule or regulations of any type.

Environmental Matters. No written notice, notification, demand, request for information, citation, summons, complaint or order has been received by, and no action, claim, suit, or proceeding is pending or, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, threatened, by any Person against the Company, any Covance Party or the Predecessor Entity with respect to any matters involving any Environmental Law. The

Company is, and for the past seven (7) years the Company and the Predecessor Entity have been, in compliance with all Environmental Laws, which compliance includes the possession by the Company of all permits and authorizations required of the Company under Environmental Laws and compliance with the terms and conditions thereof. Except as set forth on Section 3.18 of the Disclosure Schedule, to the Knowledge of any Covance Party or the Company, there are no past or present actions, activities, circumstances, conditions, events or incidents, including, without limitation, any disposal, release or threatened release of any Hazardous Substance on, under, in, from or about any property currently or formerly owned or operated by the Company or the Predecessor Entity, or otherwise related to the operations of the Company or the Predecessor Entity, that have resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in any Environmental Claim against the Company, the Predecessor Entity, the Acquirer or any property currently or formerly owned or operated by the Company or the Predecessor Entity.

Broker's and Finder's Fees. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any broker's, finder's, financial advisor's or similar fee or commission in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby based on arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company, the Covance Parties or any other Person with respect to any transaction involving the Company or the Predecessor Entity.

No Plan for Sale or Disposition. Since June 1, 2006, no Covance Party nor any Affiliate thereof had any plan or entertained any proposal with respect to the potential sale or other disposition of any central laboratory, any Phase I Unit, or any Phase II, III or IV Unit or business, which is reasonably expected to generate referral fees under the Exclusive Marketing Agreement, or any significant portion of the assets of any of the foregoing, owned or operated by any Covance Party or any Affiliate thereof, other than, with respect to internally conducted studies, plans or analyses, any thereof conducted in conformity with normal business practices of the Parent designed to assure the values of its assets and not contemplating the sale or other disposition thereof to any particular purchaser, and as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, no such plan or proposal is being entertained or contemplated, or has been put in place, by any Covance Party or any Affiliate thereof.

ARTICLE 4 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE ACQUIRER

To induce the Company and the Covance Parties to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, the Acquirer hereby represents and warrants to the Covance Parties as follows:

- 4.1 **Organization and Qualification.** The Acquirer is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of Delaware.
- 4.2 **Authority and Authorization.** The Acquirer has the corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement and the Transaction Documents.

Execution and Binding Effect. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized and approved by the board of directors of the Acquirer, and no other corporate action is required before the Acquirer may duly execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement and each of the Transaction Documents. This Agreement has been, and on the Closing Date the Transaction Documents will be, duly and validly executed and delivered by the Acquirer and, assuming the due execution and delivery of each other party thereto, each constitutes (or upon such execution and delivery will constitute) legal, valid and binding obligations of the Acquirer, enforceable against the Acquirer in accordance with their respective terms.

- No Breach, Default, Violation or Consent. The execution, delivery and performance by the Acquirer of this Agreement and the
 Transaction Documents do not and will not violate any provision of the charter or other organizational documents of the Acquirer and to
 Acquirer's Knowledge, the performance of the transactions contemplated herein will not result in a breach by the Acquirer of its
 representations and warranties delivered herein.
- Purchase Price. The Acquirer has available to it sufficient funds to allow it to pay the Purchase Price and timely consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

No Plan for Acquisition. Since June 1, 2006, neither the Acquirer nor any Affiliate thereof had any plan or entertained any proposal with respect to the potential acquisition of any of clinical pharmacology unit or business, or any significant portion of the assets of any of the foregoing from any particular seller, other than, with respect to internally conducted studies, plans or analyses, any thereof conducted in conformity with normal business practices of the Acquirer, and as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, no such plan or proposal is being entertained or contemplated, or has been put in place, by the Acquirer or any Affiliate thereof.

ARTICLE 5 ACTIONS PRIOR TO CLOSING

- Conduct of Business of the Company. Except with the prior written consent of the Acquirer (which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), at all times from the date of execution of this Agreement to the Closing Date, the Company shall, and the Covance Parties shall cause the Company to:
 - (a) Operate its business only in the ordinary course and consistent with past practice, and not amend its articles of incorporation or bylaws;
 - Use its best efforts to preserve its business organization intact, to continue the employment or keep available the services of its present officers and employees, and to preserve the good will of customers, subcontractors, suppliers and others having business relations with it;

- (c) Maintain, in the exercise of its reasonable business judgment, all assets consisting of real or personal property in good repair and operating condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted:
- (d) Comply with applicable Governmental Rules;
 - Promptly inform the Acquirer of the occurrence of any event or the existence of any condition which (i) constitutes or, with the giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, could constitute, a Company Material Adverse Effect; (ii) could cause any of the
- (e) representations or warranties of the Covance Parties herein to be misleading or untrue; (iii) could cause any of the conditions to the Acquirer's obligation to close not to be satisfied or (iv) would otherwise constitute a violation or breach of any of the terms or conditions hereof;
- (f) Not take or permit to be taken any of the following actions:
 - (A) enter into any new line of business, (B) incur or commit to any capital expenditures or any obligations or Liabilities other than capital expenditures which individually and in the aggregate do not exceed Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000), or make payments in connection with any of the foregoing, or (C) enter into any transaction with its Affiliates;
 - Declare or pay any dividends on or make any other distributions (whether in cash, stock or property) in respect of any of its capital stock, or split, combine or reclassify any of its capital stock or issue or authorize the issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of its capital stock, or repurchase or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, any shares of its capital stock;
 - Enter into any Contract or commitment, or violate, amend or otherwise modify or waive any of the terms of any of its

 Contracts, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and in no event shall such Contract, commitment, amendment, modification or waiver (other than those relating to sales of products or purchases of supplies in the ordinary course) involve the payment by the Company in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000);
 - Enter into any employment agreement with any Company employee, including, without limitation, any contract for a specific term of employment, any restrictive covenant and any change of control agreement, and/or violate, amend or otherwise modify or waive any of the terms of any of its Contracts;
 - Issue, deliver and sell or authorize or propose the issuance, delivery or sale of, or purchase or propose the purchase of, any shares of its capital stock or securities convertible into, or subscriptions, rights, warrants or options to acquire, or other contracts or commitments of any character obligating it to issue any such shares or other convertible securities;

- (A) make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person or (B) incur any indebtedness for borrowed money in a single transaction or group of transactions in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000) or
- (vi) guarantee any such indebtedness of another Person, issue or sell any debt securities or warrants or other rights to acquire any debt securities of Company, enter into any "keep well" or other agreement to maintain any financial statement condition of another Person or enter into any arrangement having the economic effect of any of the foregoing;
- (vii) Transfer or license to any Person any rights to its Intellectual Property Rights, other than the license of non-exclusive rights to its Intellectual Property Rights in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- Sell, lease, license or otherwise dispose of or create or impose any Lien on any of its properties or assets which are material, (viii) individually or in the aggregate, to its business, taken as a whole, except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- Pay, discharge or satisfy in an amount in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000) in any one case, any claim, Liability or obligation, absolute, accrued, asserted or unasserted, contingent or otherwise, arising other than in the ordinary course of business, other than the payment, discharge or satisfaction of Liabilities reflected or reserved against in the Company Financials;
- (x) Reduce the amount of any insurance coverage provided by existing insurance policies;
- (xi) Terminate or waive any right of material value;
- Adopt or amend any employee benefit or stock purchase or option plan or hire any new employee, pay any special bonus or special remuneration to any consultant, employee or director other than pursuant to existing Contracts, or increase the salaries or wage rates of its employees other than pursuant to scheduled annual performance reviews; *provided* that any resulting modifications are in the ordinary course of business and consistent with the Company's past practices;
- (xiii) Grant any severance or termination pay: (A) to any director or officer, or (B) to any other employee except payments made pursuant to standard written Contracts outstanding on the date hereof;
- (xiv) (A) Commence any litigation, action or proceeding, other than: (I) for the routine collection of bills, (II) in such cases where it in good faith

determines that failure to commence suit would result in the material impairment of a valuable aspect of its business; *provided* that it consults with the Acquirer prior to the filing of such a suit, or (III) for a breach of this Agreement, or (B) settle or compromise any material litigation, action or proceeding or regulatory investigation pending or enter into any consent decree, injunction or similar restraint or form of equitable relief in settlement of any litigation, action, or proceeding or regulatory investigation pending;

- Acquire or agree to acquire by merging or consolidating with, or by purchasing a substantial portion of the assets of, or by any other manner, any business or any corporation, partnership, association or other business organization or division thereof, or otherwise acquire or agree to acquire any assets (except for purchases of equipment, supplies and components in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice), or acquire or agree to acquire any equity securities of any corporation, partnership, association or business organization;
- Make or change any election in respect of Taxes, adopt or change any accounting method in respect of Taxes, file any Tax

 Return (except as required to do so by law) or any amendment to a material Tax Return, enter into any closing Contract, settle any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes, or consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes;
- (xvii) Revalue any of its assets, including without limitation writing down the value of inventory or writing off notes or accounts receivable other than in the ordinary course of business;
- (xviii) Make any change to its accounting methods, principles, policies, procedures or practices, except as may be required by GAAP or applicable statutory accounting principles;
- (xix) Except to the extent required to comply with its obligations hereunder or with applicable law, amend or propose to so amend its articles of incorporation, bylaws or other comparable organizational documents; and
- Take or agree in writing or otherwise to take any of the actions described in Sections 5.1(f)(i)-(xix) above, or any action that is reasonably foreseeable by any Covance Party to be likely to make any of their representations or warranties contained in this Agreement untrue or incorrect or prevent them from performing or cause them not to perform any of their respective covenants hereunder.

5.2 Confidentiality.

Confidentiality Agreement. Each of the Acquirer and the Parent shall, and the Parent shall cause each of the Shareholder and the Company in the same capacity as the Parent to, hold in confidence, and cause its respective consultants and advisers to hold in confidence, all documents and information furnished to it by or on behalf of another non-Affiliated Party in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents, pursuant to the terms of that certain Confidentiality Agreement, as amended and binding upon the Acquirer and the Parent as of April 20, 2007 between the Acquirer and the Parent (the "Confidentiality Agreement").

Public Disclosure. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Confidentiality Agreement, the Acquirer and the Parent shall make all reasonable efforts to consult with each other before issuing or causing to be issued any press release or otherwise making any written public statement, if any, with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, unless such press release or written public statement is required by law; *provided, that* either the Acquirer or the Parent may, without attempting to consult with the other, make oral and written communications that are consistent in content with any press release or other written public statement previously made that complied with this Section.

ARTICLE 6 OTHER AGREEMENTS

Access to Information. Between the date hereof and the earlier of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with its terms and the Closing Date, the Company and the Covance Parties will provide or cause to be provided to the Acquirer, and its authorized representatives, reasonable access to all employees, plants, offices, warehouses and other facilities of the Company and to all records of the Company as the Acquirer may reasonably request, and will furnish or cause to be furnished to the Acquirer, and its authorized representatives, such financial and operating data and other information with respect to the business and properties of the Company as the Acquirer may from time to time reasonably request.

6.2 Covenants; Cooperation.

General Cooperation. Each Party agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to take or cause to be taken and to do or cause to be done all such actions and things as shall be necessary or advisable, or as shall be reasonably requested by any other Party, in order to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Transaction Documents. Without limiting the

(a) generality of the foregoing, the Parties agree to cooperate with each other and make commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any consent or approval, including without limitation the consent or approval of any governmental entity, which is required, or otherwise contemplated, in connection with this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

Records Retention; Replication. On and after the Closing Date and for the period of time required under Section 6.2(c) below, the Covance Parties shall assist the Company and the Acquirer in connection with the operations of the Company, to comply with the Part 11 Guidance and FDA requirements and guidance for the conduct of non-clinical laboratory studies, including, without limitation, 21 C.F.R. § 58.1 *et seq.* In particular, and not in limitation of the foregoing, the Covance Parties shall assist the Company in (i) accessing the archives where all raw data, documentation, protocols and interim and final reports and in expediently retrieving the same, and (ii) operating, maintaining and repairing the information technology systems on which such

information resides, as further described in the Transition Services Agreement and in Section 6.2(c).

- Archived Data. From the Closing Date and until the earlier of (i) two (2) years following FDA approval of a marketing application or two (2) years following application approval in any ICH region related to any clinical trial for which the Parent's CT/Alpha Platform was used and (ii) the date on which the Parent has given to the Acquirer (A) all ECG Data (as defined below) related to studies in which the Parent's CT/Alpha Platform was used and (B) a means to query and display such ECG Data such that the Acquirer and the Company can readily comply in all respects with any applicable laws, the needs of any regulatory audit and the demands of any customer, the Covance Parties shall, after any request by the Acquirer, promptly (as required by the applicable regulatory agency or customer) supply to the Acquirer and the Company, in electronic format suitable for human review and reasonably necessary for the Acquirer's or the Company's customer archival needs or compliance with any applicable law or regulatory audit, any ECG Data and customer and regulatory information, for any electrocardiogram study in which the Company provided services or otherwise participated in any respect and that is residing on the Parent's CT/Alpha Platform or is otherwise in the Parent's control. "ECG Data" means all digital and numerical electrocardiogram data and corresponding audit trails, including, without limitation, electrocardiogram source files and annotations, electrocardiogram results, interval duration measurements and morphology results, study setup parameters, study files (e.g., correspondence, protocol, setup forms, PM files, contracts, equipment logs, site certifications, etc.) including demography and visit information, FDA XML files, summary reports
- Employees. To the extent that any person that is employed by the Company as of the Closing Date is terminated by the Acquirer (other than for cause) on or within one (1) year after the Closing Date (the identities of which the Company will provide to the Parent) and such person submits an application for employment with a Covance Party, the Covance Parties agree to consider such person for alternate employment with a Covance Party or an Affiliate thereof.

provided to clients and sites, data transfer specifications/documentation of delivery, QC/QA records and documentation on database lock. The Parent shall accompany all ECG Data with all iterations of such ECG Data including a comprehensive audit

trail with old values, new values, reason for change, date/time change and name of person making any such changes.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties agree that no employee shall be entitled to or guaranteed employment by any Covance Party, the Company or the Acquirer, and that the Company and the Acquirer are not obligated or bound to offer, provide or obtain alternate employment for any such employee; provided that in the event a Covance Party or an Affiliate thereof elects to offer any such person employment, such actions shall not be restricted by Section 6.3(b) hereof.

6.3 Non-Competition.

(a) Restricted Period; Non-Competition.

For a period (the "**Restricted Period**") ending upon the earlier of (i) the end of the Term (as defined in the Exclusive Marketing Agreement) of the Exclusive Marketing Agreement or (ii) the earlier termination of the Exclusive Marketing Agreement, neither Covance Party shall, anywhere in the world,

- directly or indirectly (whether through an Affiliate, by giving direction to any other Person or otherwise), lend its, his or her name to, invest in, own, manage, operate, provide any financial assistance to (or otherwise finance), control, advise, render services to, receive any financial benefit from or guarantee the obligations of, any Person engaged in or planning to become engaged in the offer, sale or provision of the Services, except that Covance Parties and their respective Affiliates shall be permitted to engage in the offer, sale or provision of non-centralized diagnostic services.
- Nothing in Section 6.3(a)(i) shall prevent the Parent (or any Affiliate thereof) from (i) owning up to five percent (5%) of the outstanding voting stock of a publicly traded corporation or (ii) subject to the provisions of any other agreement to which the Acquirer and the Parent are party, acquiring a company whose principal line of business is not the provision of the Services.

Non-Solicitation. Until the end of the Restricted Period, neither Covance Party nor Acquirer shall, directly or indirectly (whether through an Affiliate, by giving direction to any other Person or otherwise), recruit, solicit or otherwise interfere with or attempt to entice away from the other party or any of its Affiliates (the "Restrictive Parties") any Person who (i) at the time of such employment, retention, recruitment, solicitation, interference or enticement is, or has agreed to become, an employee, consultant or other independent contractor of any Restrictive Party or (ii) at any time during the 12-month period preceding such employment, retention, recruitment, solicitation, interference or enticement was an employee, consultant or other independent contractor of any Restrictive Party; provided that the foregoing restrictions shall not apply to the extent that any Person that would have otherwise been a Restricted Party has responded to a general solicitation of employees or contractors not specifically targeted to the

other party's employees or contractors or to the extent that any such Person has contacted either Acquirer or Covance Party, as applicable, independently.

(c) Tolling of Restricted Period. The running of the Restricted Period shall be tolled by any court of competent jurisdiction or arbiter before whom any action is brought to enforce the restrictive covenants set forth in this Section 6.3 during any period of time during which either party is in violation of such covenant, and such period of time of violation shall be added to the end of the Restricted Period for the particular covenant that has been violated, once such violation ceases.

Specific Enforcement. The covenants set forth in Section 6.3 are a reasonable and necessary protection of the legitimate interests of the parties hereto and any failure of a party hereto (or any Affiliate of either) to comply with the requirements of such Section will cause the other party irreparable injury. The remedy at law for any breach or threatened breach of either such Section will be

(d) inadequate and, accordingly, each party shall, in addition to any other rights and remedies that such party may have, be entitled to seek an injunction or temporary restraining order to prevent such breach or threatened breach and to enforce the covenants set forth in Section 6.3 with any court of competent jurisdiction, in addition to any other remedy to which such party is entitled at law or in equity.

6.4 Employee Benefits.

Benefit Plans. Upon Closing, any employee of the Company who will remain an employee of the Company after Closing shall remain under the health and medical plans provided by the Parent on behalf of the Company until and through November 30, 2007. Promptly after November 30, 2007, the Parent shall offer all people employed by the Company benefits under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 ("COBRA"), and any such employee who then receives COBRA benefits will do so through the policies of the Parent and/or the Company under which he or she participates. The Acquirer shall have the right to

- (a) require the Parent to maintain any such employee under COBRA until such employee is no longer eligible under applicable law. The Acquirer shall reimburse the Parent for the amount of COBRA benefits paid to such employees. The Acquirer shall make commercially reasonable efforts to offer such employees placement under its benefit plans by January 1, 2008. In the event that any such employee is terminated within one (1) year of the Closing Date, the Acquirer will offer such employee a cash severance payment reasonably believed by the Acquirer to be similar to the cash severance payment such employee would have received from the Covance Parties.
- (b) TUPE. With respect to any employees of Covance Clinical and Periapproval Services Ltd., an entity formed under the laws of the United Kingdom and a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of the Parent, set forth in the Transition Services Agreement, subject to the Covance Parties providing such assistance and information as the Acquirer may reasonably request, the Acquirer will reimburse the Parent for severance payments, which, for the sake of clarity, shall not include

any payments with respect to TUPE, made to such employees if such employees are terminated in a manner consistent with the Redundancy and Benefits Policy attached hereto as Schedule 6.4(b) (the "Covance UK Severance Plan"). For the avoidance of doubt, any payment by the Acquirer shall be limited to any sums payable under, and in accordance with the terms of, the Covance UK Severance Plans as in effect on the date of this Agreement. After the Closing Date, the Parties will use commercially reasonable efforts to manage any post-termination obligations to the employees of Covance Clinical and Periapproval Services Ltd., and the Acquirer will use commercially reasonable efforts to comply with any guidelines relating to TUPE provided in writing to the Acquirer by the Parent with respect to personnel potentially covered by TUPE.

6.5 Leases.

Reno Lease. The Acquirer and the Parent acknowledge and agree that until the one (1) year anniversary of the Closing Date (the "Initial Term"), the Company shall continue to be solely responsible for all of its obligations under the Reno Lease, including any payment obligations thereunder. From the end of the Initial Term until the five (5) year anniversary of the Closing Date, the Company and the Parent shall split equally any payment obligations or other costs under the Reno Lease. On and after the Closing Date, each of the Acquirer and the Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to find an appropriate lessee or sublessee, as applicable, that will, immediately following the Closing Date or later, either (i) lease the premises subject to the Reno Lease directly from Reno Technology Center 1, LLC, (ii) assume the Reno Lease from the Company or (iii) sublease from the Company

- (a) the premises subject to the Reno Lease; *provided, that* the Acquirer, in its commercially reasonable discretion, has final approval over any lessee or sublessee proposed by the Parent and the Acquirer may obtain a lessee or sublessee (and propose the same to Reno Technology Center 1, LLC) without the Parent's consent. In any event, the Acquirer and the Parent shall share equally any (i) cost associated with leasing of the premises for less than the current payment obligations under the Reno Lease or (ii) positive difference associated with leasing the premises for more than the current payment obligations under the Reno Lease. The Acquirer and the Parent shall also share equally any reasonable costs associated with marketing the premises subject to the Reno Lease, *provided, that*, each of the Acquirer and the Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to consult with the other with respect to its proposed marketing plan(s).
- Crawley Intercompany Agreement. The Covance Parties shall cause the Company to, or the Company shall terminate, as of the Closing Date any intercompany agreement or other arrangement to which the Company or the Predecessor Entity is party with respect to the premises leased by the Parent in Crawley, West Sussex, UK (the "Crawley Facility") and each of the Company and the Predecessor Entity shall have no continuing or additional Liability thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for a period commencing on the Closing Date through the one (1) year anniversary of the Closing Date, representatives of the Acquirer or the Company may, from time to time, occupy

spaces for up to four (4) individuals at the Crawley Facility that are of similar character to the spaces currently occupied by the Parent (or any Affiliate thereof) employees at the Crawley Facility. The Acquirer or the Company, as applicable, shall give the Parent ten (10) business days' notice of its intent to occupy or vacate any space; *provided*, that the Parent (or its applicable Affiliate) may not deny any such request and shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to provide such space(s) within the time allotted. The Acquirer shall pay its pro rata share of the rent and all related costs under the existing lease of the Crawley Facility for its actual use of any of the four (4) spaces.

6.6 Tax Matters.

(a)

- The Covance Parties shall cause the Company to timely file all Tax Returns required to be filed by the Company and the Predecessor Entity after the Closing Date for periods ending on or prior to the Closing Date, and shall pay or cause to be paid all Taxes shown due thereon. All such Tax Returns shall be prepared in a manner consistent with prior practice and in accordance with applicable law. The Covance Parties shall to provide the Acquirer with copies of such completed Tax
- (i) Returns at least forty-five (45) days prior to the due date for filing thereof, along with supporting workpapers, for the Acquirer's review and approval. The Covance Parties and the Acquirer shall attempt in good faith to resolve any disagreements regarding such Tax Returns prior to the due date for filing. In the event that the Covance Parties and the Acquirer are unable to resolve any dispute with respect to such Tax Return at least ten (10) days prior to the due date for filing, such dispute shall be resolved pursuant to Section 6.6(e), which resolution shall be binding on the Parties.
 - Except for Tax Returns described in Section 6.6(a)(i), following the Closing, the Acquirer shall cause the Company to cause to be timely filed all Tax Returns required to be filed by the Company after the Closing Date and, subject to the rights to payment from the Covance Parties under Section 6.6(a)(iii), pay or cause to be paid all Taxes shown due thereon. All Tax Returns for any Straddle Period shall be prepared in a manner consistent with prior practice and in accordance with
- applicable law. The Acquirer shall provide to the Covance Parties copies of such completed Tax Returns for any Straddle Period at least forty-five (45) days prior to the due date for filing thereof, along with supporting workpapers, for the Covance Parties' review and approval. The Covance Parties and the Acquirer shall attempt in good faith to resolve any disagreements regarding such Tax Returns prior to the due date for filing. In the event that the Covance Parties and the Acquirer are unable to resolve any dispute with respect to such Tax Return at least ten (10) days prior to the due date for filing, such dispute shall be resolved pursuant to Section 6.6(e), which resolution shall be binding on the Parties.

Not later than ten (10) days prior to the due date for the payment of Taxes on any Tax Returns which the Acquirer has the responsibility to cause to be filed pursuant to Section 6.6(a)(ii), Covance Parties shall pay to the Company the amount of Taxes, as agreed to by the Covance Parties or as resolved under Section 6.6(e), owed by the Covance Parties pursuant to the

(iii) provisions of Section 6.6(a). No payment pursuant to this Section 6.6(a)(iii) shall excuse any Covance Party from its indemnification obligations pursuant to Section 6.6(a) if the amount of Taxes as ultimately determined (on audit or otherwise) for the periods covered by such Tax Returns exceeds the amount of the Covance Parties' payment under this Section 6.6(a)(iii).

The Covance Parties and the Acquirer shall, unless prohibited by applicable law, cause the Company to close their respective taxable periods as of the close of business on the Closing Date. If applicable law does not permit the Company to close its taxable year on the Closing Date or in any case in which a Tax is assessed with respect to a taxable period that includes the Closing Date (but does not begin or end on that day) (a "**Straddle Period**"), the Taxes, if any, attributable to a Straddle Period shall be allocated (i) to the Shareholder for the period up to and including the close of business on the Closing Date, and (ii) to the Company for a period subsequent to the Closing Date. Any allocation of income or deductions required to determine any Taxes attributable to a Straddle Period shall be made by means of a closing of the books and records of the Company as of the close of business on the Closing Date, *provided* that exemptions, allowances or deductions that are calculated on an annual basis (including, without limitation, depreciation and amortization deductions) shall be allocated between the period ending on the Closing Date and the period after the Closing Date in proportion to the number of days in each such period.

- The Parent and the Acquirer shall share equally the cost of all sales, use, stamp, documentary, filing, recording, transfer or similar (c) fees or taxes or governmental charges or a similar nature levied by any Taxing Authority including any interest and penalties) in connection with the sale of the Target Shares.
- The Covance Parties and the Acquirer shall, upon written request of the other, at any time and from time to time (i) provide the other with such assistance as may be reasonably requested by any of them in connection with the preparation and timely execution of any Tax Return of the Company (including extensions thereof), audit, or other examination by any Taxing Authority relating to Liability for Taxes, (ii) retain and provide the other with any records or other information that may be relevant to such Tax Return, audit or examination, proceeding, or determination, and (iii) provide the other with any final determination of any such audit or examination, proceeding, or determination that affects any amount required to be shown on any Tax Return of the other, or the Company for any period ending on or before the Closing Date and any Straddle Period. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Acquirer shall retain and the Covance Parties shall retain, until the applicable statutes of limitations (including any

extensions) have expired, copies of all Tax Returns, supporting work schedules, and other records or information that may be relevant to such returns for all Tax periods or portions thereof ending before or including the Closing Date and shall not destroy or otherwise dispose of any such records without first providing the other party with a reasonable opportunity to review and copy the same. Each Party shall bear its own expenses in complying with the foregoing provisions.

Any dispute as to any matter covered hereby shall be resolved by an independent accounting firm (the "Tax Arbiter") mutually acceptable to the Covance Parties and the Acquirer. The fees and expenses of the Tax Arbiter shall be borne equally by Covance

- (e) Parties, on the one hand, and the Acquirer, on the other hand. If any dispute with respect to a Tax Return is not resolved prior to the due of such Tax Return, such Tax Return shall be filed in the manner that the party responsible for preparing such Tax Return deems correct, subject to subsequent amendment, as may be necessary, to reflect the decision of the Tax Arbiter.
- (f) All consents and approvals that are required in this Section 6.6 shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed by the party whose consent or approval is required.

Audit. The Covance Parties shall engage, at Acquirer's expense, Ernst & Young to (a) provide within sixty (60) days of Closing an independent auditor's report on its audit of the financial statements of the Company and the Predecessor Entity as of and for each of the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 in a manner meeting the requirements of Regulation S-X under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "SEC Audited Financial Statements"); (b) review financial statements of the Company and the Predecessor Entity as of and for each of the nine (9) month periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2007 in accordance with SAS 100 (the "SEC Unaudited Financial Statements") and, together with the SEC Audited Financial Statements, the "SEC Financial Statements"); and (c) take such other similar actions reasonably requested by the Acquirer and the Covance Parties, including consenting to the proper use of its report(s) on the audited financial statements included in the SEC Audited Financial Statements. In connection with the foregoing, the Covance Parties and, to the extent applicable, the Acquirer, shall assist the Company in the preparation of, and Ernst & Young in its audit of, such SEC Financial Statements, including without limitation providing the Acquirer and its representatives with respect to the Acquirer's preparation of the pro forma financial statements relating to the SEC Financial Statements, with reasonable access during normal business hours, and in a manner so as not to interfere with the normal business operations of the Covance Parties and the Company, to all relevant books, records, work papers, information and employees and auditors of such Persons.

Employees and Other Support Services. The Covance Parties agree to make available to the Acquirer and during the period not to exceed twelve (12) months after the Closing Date, certain individuals employed by the Parent or one of its Affiliates involved in providing to the Company and the Predecessor Entity certain services including without limitation, information technology, finance and accounting to support the Acquirer's

integration of the Company and its business subject to a written agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u> (the "**Transition Services Agreement**") between the Parent and the Acquirer as to the actual scope of services and fees to be paid therefore by the Acquirer.

- Intercompany Amounts. As of the Closing, the Covance Parties shall cause all intercompany Liabilities and payables of the Company or the Predecessor Entity to be cancelled or forgiven and neither the Company nor the Predecessor Entity shall have any further Liability with respect thereto.
- Name Change. Acquirer agrees that, as soon as is reasonably practicable following the completion of an administrative name change for the Company's EC Conformity from the Company to the Acquirer, the Acquirer shall cause the name of the Company to be changed such that the name of the Company will not include the term "Covance" and acknowledges and agrees that all trade names, trademarks, and other intellectual property rights related to the name "Covance" shall remain with the sole property of the Covance Parties and the Affiliates thereof.
- **Key Employees.** Until the twelve (12) month anniversary of the Closing Date, the Covance Parties shall take commercially reasonable steps to assist Acquirer in causing the individuals set forth on Section 6.11 of the Disclosure Schedule (the "**Key Employees**") to enter into retention arrangements with the Company substantially in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit B</u> (the "**Retention Agreement**").
 - **Transferred Employees.** The Acquirer agrees to reimburse the Parent for the costs of the severance benefits paid to the Transferred Employees, (a) only insofar as such benefits are paid in accordance with the terms of the Parent Severance Pay Plan and (b) only those severance benefits accrued through the Closing Date. The Parent shall use commercially reasonably efforts to obtain a separation agreement and release from each such Transferred Employee in a form that is acceptable to the Acquirer, and which expressly names the
- 6.12 Company and the Predecessor Entity and the Acquirer as released parties. Any consideration to be offered to a Transferred Employee by Parent in excess of the severance benefits provided for by the Parent Severance Pay Plan must be mutually agreed upon by the Parent and the Acquirer before making such an offer. With respect to those Transferred Employees set forth on Section 6.12 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Acquirer will offer employment to such individuals by the Acquirer or the Company at such time the individual indicates that he or she is able to return to work from short-term disability.
- 6.13 **Unsigned Backlog.** The Acquirer will use commercially reasonable efforts to enter into written Contracts for the unsigned portion of the Unsigned Backlog.

ARTICLE 7 CLOSING CONDITIONS

- Conditions Precedent to Obligations of the Acquirer. The obligations of the Acquirer hereunder to proceed with the Closing shall be subject to the satisfaction on or prior to the Closing Date of each of the following conditions precedent (unless otherwise waived by the Acquirer):
 - (a) Accuracy of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Covance Parties set forth herein shall be true and correct on and as of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as though made on and as of the Closing Date.
 - **Consents and Approvals**. All authorizations, approvals or consents required to permit the purchase and sale of the Target Shares, the performance by the Company after Closing of all services and Contracts to which it was a party or pursuant to which the
 - (b) Company or the Predecessor Entity was performing services prior to Closing and that was not allocated to Covance NPA, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and the other Transaction Documents shall have been obtained and in full force and effect.
 - (c) **Performance**. The Covance Parties and the Company and the Predecessor Entity shall have observed and performed in all material respects all covenants and agreements to be observed or performed by them on or prior to the Closing Date.
 - Officer's Certificate. The Company and the Covance Parties shall have delivered to the Acquirer a certificate of the Company's (d) President dated the Closing Date and certifying that each of the conditions specified in subsections (a), (b) and (c) above have been met with no exceptions.
 - **Litigation**. There shall not have occurred any claims or events giving rise to any causes of action (whether asserted or unasserted in litigation and including any claims or causes of action by or available to the Company or any Covance Party), which (i) could
 - (e) reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, (ii) could reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect the Target Shares or (iii) could reasonably be expected to result in a Company Material Adverse Effect.
 - (f) **Resignation**. The directors and officers of the Company shall have resigned effective as of the Closing Date.
 - **Possession**. The Covance Parties shall have transferred and delivered to the Acquirer at the Closing such keys, passwords, codes, lock and safe combinations and other similar items as the Acquirer shall require to obtain immediate and full possession and
 - control of the Company and its assets and shall have also made available to the Acquirer at its then existing locations the originals of all documents and instruments in the Covance Parties' possession or control that are required to be transferred to the Acquirer by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, including therewith, a listing of all checks outstanding and payable by the Company as of the Closing Date.

- Absence of Changes. Since the date of this Agreement, there shall have been no changes to the business, financial condition,
- (h) results of operations, Liabilities or prospects of the Company that has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (i) Intentionally Omitted.
- (j) **Exclusive Marketing Agreement**. The Parent shall have executed and delivered to the Acquirer the Exclusive Marketing Agreement, which shall be in full force and effect.
- Aging Receivables and Fixed Assets Reports. The Covance Parties shall have delivered to the Acquirer, with respect to the Company and the Predecessor Entity, the aging receivables report and the fixed assets report required under Section 3.4(i) and 3.4(j) of this Agreement.
- (1) **Transition Services Agreement**. The Parent shall have executed and delivered to the Acquirer the Transition Services Agreement.
- (m) Transferred Employees. The Parent shall have transferred employment of the Transferred Employees to the Parent or an Affiliate thereof (other than the Company) as of the Closing Date so that such individuals are not employees of the Company as of the Closing Date, and the two Transferred Employees listed on Section 7.1(m) of the Disclosure Schedule shall have accepted full-time offers from the Parent as of the Closing Date.
- Legal Opinion. The Covance Parties shall have delivered to the Acquirer opinions of counsel with respect to the Company and the (n) Predecessor Entity, and the Covance Parties substantially in the forms attached hereto as Exhibit C-1 and C-2 addressed to the Acquirer and dated the Closing Date.
- (o) General Release. The Covance Parties shall have executed and delivered to the Acquirer the general release (the "General Release") in favor of the Company and the Predecessor Entity substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D.
 - **Employee Benefit Plans**. With respect to each Employee Benefit Plan, the Company and the Predecessor Entity, and, to the extent applicable, the Parent, shall have timely made all required contributions to each Employee Benefit Plan as of the Closing.
- including, without limitation, amounts withheld pursuant to employee contributions to the Parent 401(k) Savings Plan and the Parent Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
- (q) Trade Name. The Company shall have executed in favor of the Acquirer the trade name license substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E.
- (r) **Trademark and Patent Assignment**. The Parent shall have executed in favor of the Company the trademark and patent assignments substantially in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit F</u>.

- (s) Section 3.14(t) Contracts. The Covance Parties shall have delivered to the Acquirer evidence that all assets and liabilities (including, without limitation, any Liabilities) of the Company relating to non-pharmaceutical testing services, including, without limitation, all assets and liabilities (including, without limitation, any Liabilities) attributable to the Section 3.14(t) Contracts have been duly and effectively allocated to Covance NPA by virtue of the Division.
- Section 3.14(t) Contracts Certificate. The Covance Parties shall have delivered to the Acquirer a certificate of the Company's President dated the Closing Date and certifying that the Covance Parties caused the Predecessor Entity to terminate all of the Section 3.14(t) Contracts before the effective time of the Division.
- Conditions Precedent to Obligations of the Covance Parties. The obligations of the Covance Parties to proceed with the Closing shall be subject to the satisfaction on or prior to the Closing Date of each of the following conditions precedent (unless otherwise waived by the Covance Parties):
 - Accuracy of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Acquirer set forth herein shall be true and correct on and as of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as though made on and as of the Closing Date with no exceptions.
 - (b) **Performance and Compliance**. The Acquirer shall have performed or complied in all material respects with each covenant and agreement to be performed or complied with by it hereunder on or prior to the Closing Date.
 - Consents and Approvals. All authorizations, approvals or consents required to be obtained by the Acquirer for the Acquirer to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and the other Transaction Documents shall have been obtained by the Acquirer and shall be in full force and effect.
 - (d) Officer's Certificate. The Acquirer shall have delivered to the Covance Parties a certificate of its Chief Executive Officer dated the Closing Date and certifying that each of the conditions specified in subsections (a), (b) and (c) above have been met.
 - (e) Litigation. There shall not have occurred any claims or events giving rise to any causes of action (whether asserted or unasserted in litigation and including any claims or causes of action by or available to the Acquirer), which (i) reasonably could materially and adversely affect the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, or (ii) reasonably could result in a material loss to the Acquirer.
 - (f) **Exclusive Marketing Agreement**. The Acquirer shall have executed and delivered to the Parent the Exclusive Marketing Agreement, which shall be in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 8 TERMINATION

- 8.1 **Termination**. This Agreement may be terminated as follows:
 - (a) at any time prior to Closing by mutual written consent of the Acquirer, on the one hand, and the Covance Parties on the other hand;
 - by the Acquirer or the Covance Parties if Closing has not occurred on or before December 31, 2007; *provided, however*, that a Party shall not have the right to terminate the Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.1(b) if Closing has not occurred due to a breach of such Party's representations or warranties herein or the failure of such Party to perform and comply with its agreements and covenants contained herein:
 - by the Acquirer if there has been a material breach by the Covance Parties of any of their respective representations, warranties or covenants contained herein or if any of the conditions to the Acquirer's obligations to close cannot reasonably be satisfied; or
 - by the Covance Parties if there has been a material breach by the Acquirer of its representations, warranties or covenants contained herein or if any of the conditions to the Covance Parties' respective obligations to close cannot reasonably be satisfied.
- Effect of Termination. Upon any termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1, there shall be no further obligation or Liability hereunder, *provided, however*, that the provisions of Section 5.2, Article 9 and Sections 10.1, 10.6, and 10.11 shall survive such termination and *provided, further*, that no such termination shall affect in any respect any claim a Party may have for damages resulting from the breach of any representation, warranty or covenant herein.

ARTICLE 9 INDEMNIFICATION

Survival. The representations and warranties of each Party, and the indemnification obligations relating thereto, contained in this Agreement or in any other document or instrument delivered pursuant hereto shall be deemed to be continuing and shall survive the Closing and any investigations heretofore or hereafter made by any Party or its representatives for a period of eighteen (18) months after the Closing Date (except to the extent that written notice of a claim has been provided prior thereto describing in reasonable detail the basis for such claim, in which event the applicable representation and warranty shall survive until the claim is resolved, but only to the extent the representation and warranty relates to matters subject to the claim); *provided, however*, that notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) any representations and warranties contained in Section 3.5 shall survive until ninety (90) days after the expiration of the maximum period of time permitted under applicable, including, without limitation, any statute of

limitations, for the assessment of Taxes resulting from matters covered thereby, (b) any representations and warranties contained in Section 3.14 shall survive until all of the Services to be provided pursuant to those Contracts in the Backlog have been performed; provided, that the representations and warranties contained in Section 3.14(q) shall survive for the immediately foregoing time period plus, to the extent applicable, until ninety (90) days after the expiration of the maximum period of time permitted under any applicable statute of limitations relating thereto, (c) any representations and warranties contained in Section 3.15 shall survive until all of the Services to be provided pursuant to those contracts in the Backlog have been performed, plus eighteen (18) months, (c) any representations and warranties contained in Section 3.4(e) shall survive for a period of thirty (30) months after the Closing Date regardless of when notice of any breach of such representation or warranty is received, and (d) any claims or Liabilities based upon any fraudulent or illegal acts or statements, intentional misrepresentations or the willful misconduct or active concealment of any Party hereto (whether or not relating to the subject matter of any representation or warranty herein), shall survive in perpetuity or, if less, for the maximum period of time permitted under applicable law, including, without limitation, any statute of limitations. The representations, warranties, covenants and agreements made by any Party in this Agreement shall not be affected, limited or compromised in any respect by any due diligence investigation or any other inquiries or investigations by any other Party, regardless of the results thereof.

- Indemnification by the Covance Parties. The Covance Parties shall jointly and severally indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Company and the Acquirer and the directors, officers, employees, agents and representatives of each of the Company and the Acquirer from and against any and all damages, loss, Liability or expense (including without limitation reasonable expenses of investigation and reasonable attorneys', accountants' and other professional fees and expenses) incurred as a result of:
 - (a) any breach by any Covance Party of any of its representations, warranties or covenants contained herein (determined without regard to any qualification related to materiality contained therein);
 - any failure to obtain such consents and approvals as are necessary to provide to the Company from and after Closing the opportunity to continue providing Services under any Contract included in the Backlog, Unsigned Backlog or On Hold Backlog;
 - (b) provided, however, that such indemnification obligation shall be limited to fifty-five percent (55%) of the amount of remaining Services to be provided opposite such Contract in the Backlog; provided, further, that any such indemnification right shall not be subject to the \$250,000 threshold limitations set forth in Section 9.4;
 - (i) all Taxes of the Company or the Predecessor Entity (A) for any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date, and (B) for the portion of any Straddle Period ending at the close of business on the Closing Date (determined as provided in Section 6.6(b));
 - (c) the portion of any Straddic Period chang at the close of business on the Crosing Date (determined as provided in Section 6.6(ii)), (ii) the failure to perform any covenant of the Covance Parties set forth in Section 6.6 with respect to Taxes; (iii) any failure by the Covance Parties to timely pay any and all Taxes required to be borne by the

Covance Parties under Section 6.6(c); (iv) all Taxes resulting from, or attributable to, the Division, the Migratory Merger or both and (v) any and all Taxes imposed on any member of a consolidated, combined or unitary group of which the Company (or the Predecessor Entity) is or was a member on or prior to the Closing Date, by reason of the Liability of the Company (or the Predecessor Entity), pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6(a) (or the Predecessor Entity or successor thereof or any analogous or similar provision under state, local or foreign law);

- (d) any Liability or claim made by or with respect to the Transferred Employees, except as set forth in Section 9.3(c); and except to the extent that such Liability is caused by the Acquirer's breach of Section 6.4(b), any Liability or claim, including, without limitation, any demand, award, penalty, fine, damages, rights of action, interest, cost or expense, and the Acquirer's reasonable costs of settling contesting or otherwise dealing with any of the foregoing in respect of any obligation or right brought by any employee or alleged employee of Covance Clinical and Periapproval Services Ltd. under The Transfer of Undertakings
- (e) (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 ("TUPE"), and, for the avoidance of doubt, any Liability or claim arising in connection with any such employee's employment or contract or other arrangement of employment, or the termination of any the foregoing (including, without limitation, redundancy payment, protective award, damages for wrongful dismissal, compensation for unfair dismissal, discrimination or other right or entitlement), other than any amount the Acquirer is required to reimburse to the Parent in accordance with Section 6.4.
- Indemnification by the Acquirer. The Acquirer shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Covance Parties and their respective partners, directors, officers, employees, agents and representatives from any and against any and all damages, loss, Liability or expenses (including without limitation reasonable expenses of investigation and attorneys', accountants' and other professional fees and expenses) arising out of or relating to:
 - (a) any breach by the Acquirer of any of its representations, warranties or covenants contained herein;
 - (b) any Liability or claim with respect to the operations of the Company after the Closing Date;
 - (c) any Liability or claim with respect to the Acquirer's selection of the Transferred Employees for separation of employment with the Company on or before the Closing Date.
- Limitations. Except as expressly provided herein, no Party shall be entitled make a claim for indemnification pursuant to this Article 9, as applicable, unless and until the aggregate amount of claims for which indemnification may be sought by such Party

exceeds Two Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$250,000), but in such event such Party shall be entitled to indemnification for all amounts from and including the first dollar for which indemnity may be sought hereunder. Except with respect to any indemnification obligation of the Company or the Predecessor Entity to a third party that arose before the Closing and stems from services performed by the Company or the Predecessor Entity before the Closing under a Contract pursuant to which the Company or the Predecessor Entity has indemnification obligations to such third party, which aggregate claims for indemnification by the Acquirer shall be unlimited, the Acquirer's aggregate claims for indemnification under Section 9.2 may not exceed the Purchase Price.

9.5 Intentionally Omitted.

Testing Services Provided Under Section 3.14(t) Contracts. In connection with the Section 3.14(t) Contracts, the Covance Parties shall jointly and severally indemnify, defend and hold harmless each of the Company and the Acquirer and the directors, officers, employees, agents and representatives of each of the Company and the Acquirer from and against any and all damages, loss, Liability or expense (including without limitation reasonable expenses of investigation and reasonable attorneys', accountants' and other professional fees and expenses) arising from (a) any breach of any representation or warranty contained in Section 3.14 or arising as a result of the Predecessor Entity's entry into, or performance of, the Section 3.14(t) Contracts before Closing (b) all liabilities (including, without limitation, any Liabilities) or claims arising from the termination or attempted or purported termination of Section 3.14(t) Contracts on or before Closing, whether or not such liabilities (including, without limitation, any Liabilities) arose before or after Closing and (c) all liabilities (including, without limitation, any Liabilities) relating to non-pharmaceutical testing services, including, without limitation, all liabilities (including, without limitation, any Liabilities) attributable to the Section 3.14(t) Contracts. This Section shall not be subject to the \$250,000 threshold limitation or any other limitation set forth in Section 9.4. No Covance Party shall assert any defense including, without limitation, contravention of public policy or any similar defense, to any claim for indemnification pursuant to this Section other than a good faith dispute as to the amount of any damages or expenses experienced by the Company and/or the Acquirer.

9.7 Defense of Claims.

If any Party receives notice of assertion or commencement of any third party claim against such Party (an "Indemnitee") with respect to which another Party (the "Indemnifying Party") may be obligated to provide indemnification under this Agreement, the Indemnitee shall give such Indemnifying Party reasonably prompt written notice thereof, but in any event not later than twenty

(a) (20) days after receipt of such notice of such third party claim. Such notice by the Indemnitee shall describe the third party claim in reasonable detail, shall include copies of all material written evidence thereof and shall indicate the estimated amount, if reasonably practicable, of the indemnifiable loss that has been or may be sustained by the Indemnitee. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right to

participate in or, by giving written notice to the Indemnitee, to assume, the defense of any third party claim at such Indemnifying Party's own expense and by such Indemnifying Party's own counsel, and the Indemnitee shall cooperate in good faith in such defense; provided, that, the defense of certain third party claims relating to the Section 3.14(t) Contracts or to the business which such Section 3.14(t) Contracts relate, shall be subject to the non-pharma letter agreement (the "Non-Pharma Side Letter") between the Acquirer and the Parent of even date herewith.

Other than as set forth in the Non-Pharma Side Letter, if, within ten (10) days after giving notice of a third party claim to an

Indemnifying Party pursuant to Section 9.7(a), an Indemnitee receives written notice from the Indemnifying Party that the Indemnifying Party has elected to assume the defense of such third party claim as provided in the last sentence of Section 9.7(a), the Indemnifying Party shall not be liable for any legal expenses subsequently incurred by the Indemnitee in connection with the defense thereof; provided, however, that if the Indemnifying Party fails to take reasonable steps necessary to defend diligently such third party claim within ten (10) days after receiving written notice from the Indemnitee that the Indemnitee believes the Indemnifying Party has failed to take such steps or if the Indemnitee is advised by counsel that it may assert defenses that are in addition to or different from those that the Indemnifying Party may assert, the Indemnitee may assume its own defense, and the Indemnifying Party shall be liable for all reasonable costs or expenses paid or incurred in connection therewith. Without the prior written consent of the Indemnitee, the Indemnifying Party shall not enter into any settlement of any third party claim which would lead to Liability or create any financial or other obligation on the part of the Indemnitee for which the Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification hereunder or which would constitute an admission of fault on the part of Indemnitee. If a firm offer is made to settle a third party claim without leading to Liability or the creation of a financial or other obligation for which the Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification hereunder or without leading to an admission of fault on the part of Indemnitee and the Indemnifying Party desires to accept and agree to such offer, the Indemnifying Party shall give notice to the Indemnitee to that effect. If the Indemnitee fails to consent to such firm offer within ten (10) days after its receipt of such notice, the Indemnitee may continue to contest or defend such third party claim and, in such event, the maximum Liability of the Indemnifying Party as to such third party claim shall not exceed the amount of such settlement offer.

Any claim by an Indemnitee on account of an indemnifiable loss which does not result from a third party claim (a "**Direct Claim**") shall be asserted by giving the Indemnifying Party reasonably prompt written notice thereof, but in any event not later than forty-five (45) days after the Indemnitee becomes aware of such Direct Claim. Such notice by Indemnitee shall describe the Direct Claim in reasonable detail, shall include copies of all material written evidence thereof and shall indicate the estimated amount, if reasonably practicable, of the indemnifiable loss that has been or may be sustained by the Indemnitee. The Indemnifying Party

shall have a period of forty-five (45) days within which to respond in writing to such Direct Claim. If the Indemnifying Party does not so respond within such forty-five (45) day period, the Indemnifying Party shall be deemed to have accepted such Direct Claim. If an Indemnifying Party rejects any Direct Claim in whole or part and in good faith, the Indemnitee shall be free to pursue any remedies as may be available to it at law or equity.

- A failure to give timely notice or to include any specific information in any notice as provided in Sections 9.7(a), 9.7(b) or 9.7(c) shall not affect the rights or obligations of any Party hereunder except and only to the extent that, as a result of such failure, any Party which was entitled to receive such notice was deprived of its right to recover any material payment or payments under its applicable insurance coverage or was otherwise materially prejudiced as a result of such failure.
- (e) The Covance Parties, on the one hand, and the Acquirer, on the other hand, agree to treat any indemnity payment made pursuant to this Article IX as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for all income tax purposes.
- (f) Any notices required to be given pursuant to this Section 9.7 shall be given in accordance with Section 10.7.

Set-Off. In the event that any claim is resolved in favor of the Acquirer in accordance with this Article 9 (each, a "Resolved Acquirer Claim") and, at the time any Earnout Payment and/or Additional Backlog Payment is required to be paid to the Parent, the Parent has not paid the Acquirer in the entirety all Resolved Acquirer Claims, the Acquirer may permanently setoff, to the extent outstanding, the aggregate amount of any Resolved Acquirer Claims against any Earnout Payment and/or Additional Backlog Payment then due, any future Earnout Payments and/or Additional Backlog Payments.

ARTICLE 10 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Expenses. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein or in any Transaction Document, the Acquirer shall be responsible for such expenses as it may incur in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution, delivery, performance and enforcement of this

10.1 Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the Parent shall be responsible for such expenses as it, the Company, the General Partner or the Shareholder may incur in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution, delivery, performance and enforcement of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.

Amendments. This Agreement may be amended only by a writing signed by the each of the Parties hereto, and any such amendment shall be effective only to the extent specifically set forth in such writing.

Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any right, interest or obligation hereunder may be assigned, pledged or otherwise transferred by any Party, whether by operation of law or otherwise, without the prior written consent of each of the other Parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Acquirer shall have the right to assign all of its rights and obligations hereunder to one or more direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiaries, and upon any such assignment, such assignee(s) shall be deemed to be the Acquirer for purposes of this Agreement.

Counterparts; Telefacsimile and E-mail Delivery. This Agreement and all agreements, certificates and documents to be delivered in connection herewith (each an "**Instrument**") may be executed in any number of counterparts, and by each of the Parties on separate counterparts, each of which, when so executed, shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute but one and the same

- 10.4 Instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of an Instrument by telefacsimile or via e-mail shall be equally as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of an Instrument. Any Party delivering an executed counterpart of an Instrument by telefacsimile or e-mail also shall deliver a manually executed counterpart of such Instrument, but the failure to deliver a manually executed counterpart shall not affect the validity, enforceability or binding effect of such Instrument.
- Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the other agreements referred to herein and the appendices, schedules (including the Disclosure Schedule) and exhibits and schedules attached hereto, contains the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby and supersedes all prior written and oral agreements among the parties hereto, and all contemporaneous oral agreements among the parties hereto, relating to the transactions contemplated hereby.
- Governing Law. This Agreement shall be a contract under the laws of the State of Delaware and for all purposes shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to conflict of law principles.

Notices. All notices, consents and other communications required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be effective, and any applicable time period shall commence when (a) delivered to the following address by hand or by a nationally recognized overnight courier service (costs prepaid) or (b) transmitted electronically to the following telecopier or e-mail addresses with confirmation of receipt of transmission, in each case marked to the attention of the Person (by name or title) designated below (or to such other address, telecopier number, e-mail address, or Person as a Party may designate by notice to the other Parties):

If to the Parent or the Shareholder (or to the Company on or before the Closing Date):

Covance Inc.

210 Carnegie Center

Princeton, NJ 08540 Attention: General Counsel

with a copy to:

Kirkpatrick & Lockhart Preston Gates Ellis LLP

925 Fourth Avenue

Suite 2900

Seattle, WA 98104-1158

Attention: Christopher H. Cunningham, Esq.

Telecopy No.: 206.370.6040

E-mail: chris.cunningham@klgates.com

If to the Company (after the Closing Date) or the Acquirer:

eResearchTechnology, Inc. 30 South 17th Street Philadelphia, PA 19103

Attention: Mr. Richard A. Baron, Chief Financial Officer

Telecopy No.: 215.972.2238 E-mail: RBaron@ert.com

with a copy to:

Duane Morris LLP 30 South 17th Street Philadelphia, PA 19103

Attention: Richard A. Silfen, Esq. Telecopy No.: 215.979.1020 E-mail: rasilfen@duanemorris.com

Severability. Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining portions hereof or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of each of the Parties and their respective legal representatives, heirs, successors and permitted assigns.

Waivers. The due performance or observance by the Parties of their respective obligations hereunder and under the other Transaction 10.10 Documents shall not be waived, and the rights and remedies of the Parties hereunder and under the Transaction Documents shall not be affected, by any course of dealing or performance or by any

delay or failure of any party in exercising any such right or remedy. The due performance or observance by a Party of any of its obligations hereunder or under any other Transaction Document may be waived only by a writing signed by the Party against whom enforcement of such waiver is sought, and any such waiver shall be effective only to the extent specifically set forth in such writing.

10.11 Arbitration.

- Except for (i) any dispute with respect to an Earnout Payment, which shall be handled in accordance with Section 2.7(c), (ii) any dispute with respect to Net Working Capital, which shall be handled in accordance with Section 2.8(d) or (iii) any dispute with respect to an Additional Backlog Payment, which shall be handled in accordance with Section 2.9(c), if any dispute shall at any time arise between (or among, as applicable) the Parties with respect to the meaning or effect of any clauses of this Agreement or
- (a) the rights or obligations of the Parties hereto hereunder, or connected herewith, such dispute or difference shall be resolved by panel of three (3) arbitrators, one of whom shall be designated by the Acquirer, one of whom shall be designated by the Covance Parties and the third of whom shall be selected by the first two (2) arbitrators. The arbitration shall be conducted in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association. The award of the arbitrators shall be final and binding on the Parties hereto.
 - The cost of the arbitrators shall be borne fifty percent (50%) by the Covance Parties and fifty percent (50%) by the Acquirer, and each Party shall bear its own respective expenses in connection with such arbitration. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of an arbitration that involves primarily monetary damages: (i) if the initiating Party is awarded an amount equal to at least eighty percent (80%) of its initial demand, the respondent in such arbitration shall bear one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of the
- (b) arbitration and the initiating Party's reasonable and actual costs and expenses in connection therewith (ii) if such initiating Party is awarded an amount equal to less than twenty percent (20%) of its initial demand, the initiating Party shall bear one hundred percent (100%) of the costs of the arbitrators and the respondent Party's reasonable and actual costs and expenses in connection therewith; and (iii) if such initiating Party is awarded an amount equal to more than twenty percent (20%) but less than eighty percent (80%) of its initial demand, each Party shall pay its own costs and fifty percent (50%) of the costs of the arbitrators.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

In witness whereof, each of the Acquirer, the Parent, the Shareholder and the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf by its respective officer duly authorized to do so, all as of the date specified above in the preamble.

ERESEARCHTECHNOLOGY, INC.

By: /s/ Richard A. Baron

Name: Richard A. Baron

Title: Executive Vice President, Chief Financial

Officer and Secretary

COVANCE INC.

By: /s/ James W. Lovett

Name: James W. Lovett
Title: Senior Vice President

COVANCE CENTRAL LABORATORY SERVICES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

By: COVANCE CENTRAL LABORATORY SERVICES INC., as general partner

By: /s/ William E. Klitgaard

Name: William E. Klitgaard

Title: Senior Vice President and Assistant

Treasurer

COVANCE CARDIAC SAFETY SERVICES INC.

By: /s/ William E. Klitgaard

Name: William E. Klitgaard

Title: Vice President and Treasurer

62

Appendix 1

Definitions

- "Acceptance Date" shall have the meaning specified in 2.8(b).
- "Acquirer" shall have the meaning specified in the preamble.
- "Additional Backlog Payment Arbitrator" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.9(c).
- "Additional Backlog Payment Dispute Notice" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.9(c).
- "Additional Backlog Payment Disputed Matters" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.9(c).
- "Additional Backlog Payments" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(ii).
- "Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, (i) any director, officer, partner or principal of such Person, (ii) any other Person of which any such individual is a director, officer, partner or principal, and (iii) any Person who directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, any such Person, and the term "control" shall mean, with respect to any Person, the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.
- "Agreement" shall have the meaning specified in the preamble.
- "Anti-Kickback Statute" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.14(g).
- "Backlog" means, collectively, the written Contracts identified on Section 3.4(g) of the Disclosure Schedule. For the avoidance of doubt, the "Backlog" does not include any Contracts entered into after September 30, 2007.
- "Backlog Earnout Revenue" means, for any period, seven and eight-tenths percent (7.8%) of revenue when and to the extent received during such period by the Acquirer (or any Affiliate of the Acquirer) with respect to Backlog.
- "Balance Sheets" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.4(a).
- "Balance Sheet Date" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.4(a).
- "Closing" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.3.
- "Closing Date" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.3.
- "Closing Net Working Capital" means the Net Working Capital of the Company as of the Closing Date.

A-1

- "Closing Net Working Capital Statement" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.8(a).
- "Closing Payment" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.2.
- "COBRA" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.4(a).
- "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- "Company" shall have the meaning specified in the preamble.
- "Company Financials" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.4(a).
- "Company Intellectual Property" means all Intellectual Property owned (in whole or in part) by, or licensed to, the Company or the Predecessor Entity.
- "Company Material Adverse Effect" means, with respect to the Company, an effect, event, development or change that, individually or in the aggregate with all other effects, events, developments or changes, is materially adverse to the assets, business, results of operations or financial condition of the Company or the Predecessor Entity; other than any effect, event, development or change resulting from (1) general changes after the date hereof in capital markets, general economic conditions or the industries in which Company operates, (2) any outbreak or escalation after the date hereof of hostilities or war, (3) actions taken by Company after the date hereof at, and in accordance with, the written direction or request of Acquirer, or (4) the announcement of this Agreement.
- "Confidentiality Agreement" shall have the meaning specified in Section 5.2(a).
- "Contracts" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.10(a).
- "Copyrights" means copyrights whether registered or unregistered and whether arising under the laws of the United States or any other jurisdiction anywhere in the world, including all registrations and applications for registration with respect thereto.
- "Covance NPA" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.4(a)(ix)
- "Covance Parties" shall have the meaning specified in the Recitals.
- "Covance UK Severance Plan" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.4(b).
- "Crawley Facility" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.5(b).
- "Designated Individual" shall mean: (a) with respect to any Covance Party or the Company, Nigel Brown, Richard F. Cimino, Anders Eriksson, Chris Gegelys, Mike Giannetto, Donald Kraft, Brian R. Maron, Deona Mitchell and Bill Popper and, (b) with respect to the Acquirer, Richard A. Baron, Tm Devine, Amy Furlong, Valerie Mattern and Michael J. McKelvey.
- "Direct Claim" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9.7(c).
- "**Division**" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.1(a).

- "Disclosure Schedule" shall have the meaning specified in the first paragraph of Article 3.
- "Earnout" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.7(a).
- "Earnout Payment" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.7(a).
- "Earnout Payment Dispute Notice" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.7(c).
- "Earnout Payment Disputed Matters" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.7(c).
- "Earnout Payment Arbitrator" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.7(c).
- "Earnout Revenue" means, with respect to any period, Relevant Revenues (as defined in the Exclusive Marketing Agreement) when and to the extent received during such period by the Acquirer (or an Affiliate of the Acquirer) as a result of performance of the Exclusive Marketing Agreement, net of fifty percent (50%) of the amounts paid during such period by the Acquirer (or any Affiliate of the Acquirer) for referral fees under Section 4.2 of the Exclusive Marketing Agreement.
- "ECG Data" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.2(c).
- "Employee Benefit Plans" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.16(b)(i).
- "Environmental Claim" means any claim, violation or Liability, asserted by any Person claiming Liability or potential Liability (including Liability or potential Liability for enforcement, investigatory costs, cleanup costs, governmental response costs, natural resource damages, property damage, personal injury, fines or penalties) arising out of, based on or resulting from (a) the presence, discharge, emission, release or threatened release of any Hazardous Substance at any location and any exposure of Persons to such Hazardous Substance at any location, (b) the use, handling, treatment, storage or disposal of any Hazardous Substance, (c) circumstances forming the basis of any violation or alleged violation of any Environmental Laws or permits or (d) otherwise relating to obligations or Liabilities under any Environmental Law.
- "Environmental Law" means any applicable and binding federal, state, local or foreign statute, law, judicial decision, regulation, ordinance, rule, judgment, order, code, injunction, or permit protecting human health or the environment from exposures to hazards, including, without limitation, Hazardous Substances.
- "ERISA" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.16(b)(i).
- "Exclusive Marketing Agreement" shall have the meaning specified in the Recitals.
- "FDA" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.14(a).
- "GAAP" means accounting principles generally accepted in the United States as in effect at the time in question.

- "General Partner" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.4(a)(ii).
- "General Release" shall have the meaning specified in Section 7.1(o).
- "Governmental Rule" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.3(d).
- "Hazardous Substances" means all substances, materials or wastes that are listed, classified or regulated pursuant to any Environmental Law, including, without limitation, (a) gasoline or any other petroleum byproducts, asbestos or polychlorinated biphenyls and (b) in the United States, all substances defined as Hazardous Substances, Oils, Pollutants or Contaminants in the National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan, 40 C.F.R. Section 300.5.
- "HIPAA Regulations" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.14(u).
- "Indemnifying Party" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9.7(a).
- "Indemnitee" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9.7(a).
- "Initial Term" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.5(a).
- "Instrument" shall have the meaning specified in Section 10.4.
- "Intellectual Property" means all intellectual property rights arising from or associated with any of the following, whether protected, created or arising under the laws of the United States or any other jurisdiction anywhere in the world: (a) Copyrights, (b) Trademarks, (c) Patents, (d) Trade Secrets, (e) domain names and (f) moral rights, data base rights, publicity rights and any other proprietary, intellectual or industrial property rights of any kind or nature.
- "IRS" means the Internal Revenue Service.
- "Key Employees" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.11.
- "Knowledge" means that a Person shall be deemed to have Knowledge of a particular fact or other matter if: (a) that Person is actually aware of that fact or matter; or (b) a prudent Person could be expected to discover or otherwise become aware of that fact or matter in the course of conducting a reasonably comprehensive investigation regarding the accuracy the fact or matter. With respect a Person other than an individual, Knowledge of a particular fact or other matter shall be the Knowledge of any Designated Individual of such Person. Actual Knowledge means that the Person is actually aware of that fact or matter.
- "Liability" means, with respect to any Person, any liability or obligation of any kind, character or description, whether known or unknown, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, joint or several, due or to become due, vested or unvested, executory, determined, determinable or otherwise and whether or not the same is required to be accrued on the financial statements of that Person or is disclosed on any schedule or exhibit hereto.
- "License-In Agreements" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.15(f).

- "License-Out Agreements" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.15(f).
- "Lien" means (i) any lien including any lien relating to Taxes (hereinafter defined), pledge, or negative pledge, (ii) any mortgage, deed of trust, security interest, charge in the nature of a lien or security interest, (iii) any title retention agreement, right of first refusal, right of first purchase or other similar option, (iv) any conditional sale agreement, easement, right of way, variance or other real estate declaration, (v) any rental, hire purchase, credit sale or other agreement for payment on deferred terms, or (vi) any other transfer or other restriction, servitude or other encumbrance of any kind.
- "Material Contracts" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.10(a).

Migratory Merger" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.1(a).

- "Monthly Backlog Notice" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.9(b).
- "Net Working Capital" means the current assets of the Company and the Predecessor Entity (net of allowance for doubtful accounts and reserves) in accordance with GAAP applied consistently with prior periods, *minus* the current Liabilities of the Company and the Predecessor Entity, all as calculated as of the close of business on the Closing Date without giving effect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Agreement; in each case in accordance with GAAP applied consistently with prior periods.
- "Non-Pharma Side Letter" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9.7(a).
- "On Hold Backlog" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(ii).
- "On Hold Backlog Payment" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(ii).
- "Oxford" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.10(g).
- "Parent" shall have the meaning specified in the preamble.
- "Part 11 Guidance" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.14(q).
- "Party" or "Parties" shall have the meaning specified in the preamble.
- "Patents" means patents or patent applications of any kind or nature, wheresoever issued or pending anywhere in the world.
- "Permits" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.8.
- "Permitted Liens" shall mean such of the following as to which no enforcement, collection, execution, levy or foreclosure proceeding shall have been commenced: (a) Liens for taxes, assessments and governmental charges or levies not yet due and payable; (b) Liens imposed by law, such as materialmen's, mechanics', carriers', workmen's and repairmen's liens and other similar Liens arising in the ordinary course of the business consistent with past practices securing obligations that (i) are not overdue for a period of more than 30 days and (ii) are not in excess of

\$15,000 in the case of a single property or \$30,000 in the aggregate at any time; (c) pledges or deposits to secure obligations under workers' compensation laws or similar legislation or to secure public or statutory obligations; and (d) other Liens on property which are immaterial in amount or do not materially detract from the value of or materially impair the existing use of the assets or property affected by such Lien.

- "Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, trust, estate or other entity or organization.
- "Predecessor Entity" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.1(a).
- "Purchase Price" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.2.
- "Purchase Price Adjustment" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.8(e).
- "Reno Lease" means that certain Lease Agreement dated as of July 8, 2003 by and between Reno Technology Center 1, LLC and the Company (as successor in interest to the Predecessor Entity), as amended.
- "Resolved Acquirer Claim" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9.8.
- "Restricted Period" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.3(a).
- "Restrictive Parties" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.3(b).
- "Retention Agreement" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.11.
- "Returns" means all returns, declarations, reports, statements and other documents to be filed in respect of Taxes, and "Return" means any one of the foregoing returns.
- "Revenue" means revenues received or the fair value of other compensation received, as reduced by sales Taxes, value added Taxes or other similar Taxes, and excluding all pass-through charges, as such is in accordance with GAAP applied consistently with prior periods.
- "SEC Audited Financial Statements" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.7.
- "SEC Financial Statements" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.7.
- "Section 3.14(t) Contracts" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.14(t).
- "SEC Unaudited Financial Statements" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.7.
- "Services" shall mean centralized electrocardiogram, Holter monitoring, diagnostic services and other similar centralized diagnostic services, in each case to the extent involving, in whole or in part, the measurement and/or interpretation of human electrophysiological or other cardiac signals as applicable in the conduct of clinical trials (including "for fee" cardiologist, protocol design, statistical, and reporting consultation services used specifically in the business of the Acquirer as currently conducted), and any technical or other innovations to any of the foregoing,

such as web-based data access. Services shall not include any non-centralized diagnostic services performed by any Clinical Research Unit as part of routine safety patient monitoring. However, notwithstanding the limitation contained in the immediately preceding sentence, in all cases, without limitation, Thorough QT/QTc electrocardiology trials (TQT as defined by FDA ICH E14 Guidance) and intensive as well as routine electrocardiogram trials will be included in Services.

- "Shareholder" shall have the meaning specified in the preamble.
- "Straddle Period" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.6(b).
- "Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, (a) any corporation as to which more than fifty percent (50%) of the outstanding stock having ordinary voting rights or power (and excluding stock having voting rights only upon the occurrence of a contingency unless and until such contingency occurs and only for so long as such rights may be exercised) is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such Person or by one or more of such Person's Subsidiaries and (b) any partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or other similar relationship between such Person (or any Subsidiary thereof) and any other Person (whether pursuant to a contract or otherwise).
- "Transition Services Agreement" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.8.
- "Transferred Employees" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.16(a)(v).
- "Target Net Working Capital" equals Three Million and Sixty-Nine Thousand Dollars (\$3,069,000).
- "Target Shares" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.1.
- "Tax Arbiter" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.6(e).
- "Taxes" means (i) all federal, state, local or foreign taxes, charges, fees, imposts, levies or other assessments, including all income, gross receipts, capital, sales, use, ad valorem, value added, transfer, franchise, profits, inventory, capital stock, license, withholding, payroll, employment, social security, unemployment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, property and estimated taxes, customs duties, fees, assessments and charges of any kind whatsoever, (ii) all interest, penalties, fines, additions to tax or additional amounts imposed by any Taxing Authority in connection with any item described in clause (i) and (iii) any transferee liability in respect of any items described in clauses (i) or (ii) payable by reason of contract, assumption, transferee liability, operation of law, Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6(a) (or any predecessor or successor thereof of any analogous or similar provision under law) or otherwise.
- "Taxing Authority" means the IRS and any other governmental body responsible for the administration of any Tax.
- "Tax Return" means any return, report or statement required to be filed with respect to any Tax (including any elections, declarations, schedules or attachments thereto, and any amendment thereof) including any information return, claim for refund, amended return or declaration of

estimated Tax, and including, where permitted or required, combined, consolidated or unitary returns for any group of entities that includes the Company, the Predecessor Entity or any Affiliate thereof.

- "Trade Secrets" means information of any kind or nature, in whatever form and whether or not embodied in a tangible medium, including without limitation, customer lists, concepts, ideas, methods, processes, designs, plans, schematics, drawings, formulae, technical data, specifications, research and development information, technology and product roadmaps, models, data bases, marketing materials and other confidential information, in each case to the extent any of the foregoing derives economic value from not being known to other Persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use, excluding any Copyrights or Patents that cover or protect any of the foregoing.
- "Trademarks" means trademarks, trade names, corporate names, business names, trade styles, service marks, logos, other source or business identifiers and general intangibles of like nature, together with goodwill associated therewith, whether registered or unregistered and whether arising under the laws of the United States or any state or territory thereof or any other jurisdiction anywhere in the world, and all registrations and applications for registration with respect to any of the foregoing.
- "Transaction Documents" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.2.
- "TUPE" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9.2(e).
- "Unsigned Backlog" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(i).
- "Unsigned Backlog Payment" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(i).
- "WARN Act" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.16(a)(iv).
- "Working Capital Arbitrator" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.8(d).
- "Working Capital Disputed Matters" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.8(d).
- "Working Capital Dispute Notice" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.8(d).
- "Wrongful Acts" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.14(d).

PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION PURSUANT TO REGISTRANT'S APPLICATION OBJECTING TO DISCLOSURE AND REQUESTING CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT UNDER RULE 24b-2. THE OMITTED PORTIONS HAVE BEEN MARKED WITH BRACKETS.

EXCLUSIVE MARKETING AGREEMENT

This Exclusive Marketing Agreement (this "<u>Agreement</u>") is made this 27th day of November, 2007, by and between Covance Inc., a Delaware corporation ("<u>Parent</u>"), and eResearchTechnology, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("<u>eRT</u>").

WHEREAS, eRT is engaged in the provision of the Services (as hereinafter defined); and

WHEREAS, eRT and Parent desire to enter into an agreement relating to the joint marketing of the Services, the potential referral of other business between Parent and its subsidiaries (collectively, "Covance") and eRT, non-competition and the other matters referred to herein.

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and legal sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged by the parties, the parties agree as follows:

1. Definitions.

As used in this Agreement, the following terms, whether used in the singular or the plural, shall have the following respective meanings:

- 1.1 "Affiliate" shall mean any Person, from to time, which directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries either controls, or is controlled by or is under common control with, the Person specified.
- 1.2 "Audit" shall mean an audit of the Services, in the case of eRT, and an audit of any services provided by Covance, in the case of Covance.
- "Backlog" means each written Contract identified on Section 3.4(g) of the Disclosure Schedule of that certain Share Purchase

 Agreement by and among eRT, Parent, Covance Central Laboratory Services Limited Partnership and the Company dated as of the date hereof. For the avoidance of doubt, the "Backlog" does not include any Contracts entered into after September 30, 2007; provided, that, only Revenues received after the effective date of this Agreement may be deemed Relevant Revenues.
- 1.4 "Business" shall mean eRT's ongoing efforts to sell the Services, but shall not include any other business activities engaged in by eRT from time to time.
- 1.5 *"Claims"* shall have the meaning specified in Section 5.
- 1.6 "Company" shall mean Covance Cardiac Safety Services Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation.
- 1.7 *"Confidential Information"* shall have the meaning specified in Section 7.
- 1.8 "Covance Relationship Manager" shall mean the individual appointed by Covance from time to time pursuant to Section 2.3.1. The initial Covance Relationship Manager shall be identified on Schedule 2.3.1 to this Agreement.

- 1.9 "Covance Sales Manager" shall mean the individual appointed by Covance from time to time pursuant to Section 2.3.2. The initial Covance Sales Manager shall be identified on Schedule 2.3.2 to this Agreement.
 - "Critical Finding" shall mean, with respect to any Party, a finding made in an audit report, based on the results of an Audit, with respect to Services, in the case of eRT, and any services provided by Covance, in the case of Covance, prepared by the other Party, its Affiliates or any third party which is characterized as critical, and which (i) identifies any deficiency of such Party posing a threat to patient safety, (ii) is reasonably likely to result in materially adverse regulatory action by any Governmental Authority with respect to such Party, (iii) is reasonably likely to invalidate the acceptability of any Study involving the Services, in the case of eRT, or any services provided by Covance with respect to such Study, in the case of Covance, to any Customer or to any Governmental Authority;
- 1.10 provided, however, that neither Covance nor any Person shall be permitted to characterize as critical, for purposes of the definition of "Critical Finding," (a) any conduct of the business of the Company after the effective date of this Agreement, relating to a study set forth in the Backlog, that eRT reasonably believes to be consistent with the manner the Company conducted its business before the effective date of this Agreement, including, for the sake of clarity, conduct of the Company after the effective date of this Agreement consistent with the finding of any regulatory audit before the effective date of this Agreement or (b) any finding with respect to Services provided by the Company, unless such finding represents a meaningful and material degradation that occurred after the effective date of this Agreement.
- 1.11 "Cure Period Expiration Date" shall have the meaning specified in Section 8.1.1.
- 1.12 "Customer" shall mean any customer or prospective customer of Covance or its Affiliates.
- 1.13 "Damages Cap" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.2.
 - "Documented Lead" shall mean any lead or other information, based on a request by a Customer, for Services that is communicated in writing by Covance to eRT that subsequently results in verifiable Relevant Revenues to eRT, other than leads or other information known to eRT at the time of such communication as demonstrated by eRT's prior written records. eRT shall be deemed to have
- 1.14 knowledge of any lead or other information concerning any opportunity known to a member of its sales force as demonstrated by eRT's prior written records. For purposes of tracking Documented Leads, the Relationship Managers will meet weekly (or as otherwise determined by the Parties) to review a list of trials and other potential sources of leads, and will maintain a process for identifying and tracking Documented Leads.
- 1.15 "eRT Excluded Customer" shall mean the Persons identified on Schedule 1.15.
- 1.16 *"eRT Relationship Manager"* shall mean the individual appointed by eRT from time to time pursuant to Section 2.4.1. The initial eRT Relationship Manager shall be identified on Schedule 2.4.1 to this Agreement.
- 1.17 "Exclusivity Period" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.7.
- 1.18 "FDA" shall mean the United States Food and Drug Administration.
- "Governmental Authority" shall mean any governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency, court or other instrumentality of the United States or any other country, including but not limited to federal, state, district, territory, possession or commonwealth thereof, as well as any entity with the authority to grant or issue licenses or permits necessary to competently perform the Services.
- 1.20 "Implementation Plan" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.4.

- "Independent Third-Party Auditor" shall mean an auditor, not an Affiliate of either of the Parties, and experienced in quality assurance and other audits related to the provision of services in clinical trials, appointed by Covance for the purposes set forth in Section 8.1.1 of this Agreement and approved by eRT in its reasonable discretion; provided, however, that in the event that eRT does not, in its reasonable discretion, approve any auditor chosen by Covance for the purposes set forth in Section 8.1.1, then, within thirty (30) days following the date that Covance originally designated such potential auditor, each of Covance and eRT shall request that their independent public accountants engage a mutually acceptable auditor to act as the Parties auditor with respect to Section 8.1.1. The findings of any Independent Third-Party Auditor designated pursuant to this Agreement shall be final, binding and conclusive on the Parties.
- 1.22 "Joint Bid" shall mean any response to request for proposal, bid or other offer of services by Covance which includes, subject to Section 3.1, Services to be provided by eRT.
- 1.23 "Losses" shall have the meaning specified in Section 5.
- 1.24 "Party" shall mean eRT or Covance.
- "Person" shall mean an individual, a corporation, a limited liability company, a partnership (including without limitation a joint venture), an unincorporated association, a trust or any other entity or organization, including but not limited to a government or political subdivision or any agency or instrumentality thereof.
- 1.26 "Potential Termination Event" shall mean the occurrence and continuation beyond any available cure period of any event, circumstance or condition set forth in Section 8.1 or 8.1.1.
- 1.27 "Relationship Managers" shall mean the eRT Relationship Manager and the Covance Relationship Manager.
- "Relevant Revenues" shall mean Revenues when and to the extent received by eRT or the fair value of other compensation received by eRT resulting from Documented Leads from Covance or Joint Bids, as reduced by sales taxes, value added taxes or other similar taxes, and excluding all pass-through charges; provided, however, that Relevant Revenues shall exclude amounts received by eRT on account of Backlog. To the extent that the customer identified on Schedule 1.28 (the "Schedule 1.28 Customer") enters into a written and legally binding contract with respect to the study and for a dollar amount within thirty-three percent (33%) of, or more than, the dollar value of Services (identified on Schedule 1.28 with such study), and eRT recognizes any ECG Revenues under such contract, on or before May 31, 2008 (the "Contract Date"), "Relevant Revenues" shall be deemed to include Revenues received by eRT in accordance with the definition of "Relevant Revenues" on or after the date hereof, and eRT shall pay to Covance, on or before April June 30, 2008, any referral fees then owed to Covance on account of such Relevant Revenues received by eRT between and including the date hereof and on and including December 31, 2007. In the event that the Schedule 1.28 Customer does not enter into a written and legally binding contract on or before the Contract Date, "Relevant Revenues" shall be deemed to include Revenues received by eRT in accordance with the definition of "Relevant Revenues" after December 31, 2007.
- "Revenues" means revenues received or the fair value of other compensation received, as reduced by sales taxes, value added taxes or other similar taxes, and excluding all pass-through charges, as such is in accordance with GAAP applied consistently with prior periods.
- "Services" shall mean centralized electrocardiogram, Holter monitoring, diagnostic services and other similar centralized diagnostic services, in each case to the extent involving, in whole or in part, the measurement and/or interpretation of human electrophysiological or other cardiac signals as applicable in the conduct of clinical trials (including "for fee" cardiologist, protocol design,

statistical, and reporting consultation services used specifically in the business of eRT as currently conducted), and any technical or other innovations to any of the foregoing, such as web-based data access. Services shall not include any non-centralized diagnostic services performed by any Clinical Research Unit as part of routine safety patient monitoring. However, notwithstanding the limitation contained in the immediately preceding sentence, in all cases, without limitation, Thorough QT/QTc electrocardiology trials (TQT as defined by FDA ICH E14 Guidance) and intensive as well as routine electrocardiogram trials will be included in Services.

- 1.31 "Study" shall mean any clinical trial or study, as expanded, contracted or otherwise modified from time to time.
- 1.32 "Subcontracting Agreement" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.3.
- 1.33 "Term" shall have the meaning specified in Section 8.
- 1.34 "\$" shall mean United States dollars.
- 1.35 "Work Order" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.3.

2. Marketing of Services.

- 2.1 <u>Marketing of eRT Services</u>.
 - During the Term, Covance agrees, and shall cause its Affiliates, to (i) use eRT for all Services provided or otherwise used by 2.1.1 Covance and any of its Affiliates and (ii) recommend eRT as the exclusive provider of Services to Customers, and market, and cooperate with eRT in the marketing of, eRT's Services to Customers, as described in the Implementation Plan.
 - Covance's and its Affiliates' marketing obligations pursuant to Section 2.1.1 shall not apply (i) to any Study for any Customer in which case such Customer has informed Covance that such Customer will not use eRT to provide Services for such Study (and, in such case, Covance shall provide to eRT (a) notice that any Customer has so informed Covance, which notice shall identify the Customer, the Study and the reason why the Customer stated it will not work with eRT, to the extent of information
 - 2.1.2 available to the Covance Relationship Manager, unless and only to the extent that disclosure of the foregoing information is prohibited by provisions of a written confidentiality agreement to which Covance is bound and was entered into before the time such Customer so informs Covance, and (b) any Customer feedback regarding such Customer's decision to the extent information regarding such feedback is available to the Covance Relationship Manager), or (ii) following any Potential Termination Event.

2.2 Exclusivity.

- Covance agrees that during the Term, neither Covance nor any Affiliate of Covance shall perform any Services, or recommend to any Customer any Person, other than eRT, as a provider of Services, except (i) with the prior written consent of eRT,

 (ii) following any Potential Termination Event, or (iii) under circumstances in which pursuant to the provisions of Sertion
- (ii) following any Potential Termination Event, or (iii) under circumstances in which, pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.1.2, Covance's and its Affiliates' marketing obligations under Section 2.1.1 do not apply.
- Nothing contained in this Agreement shall prevent Covance (or any Affiliate thereof) from (i) owning up to five percent (5%) of 2.2.2 the outstanding voting stock of a publicly traded corporation or (ii) subject to the provisions of the side letter of even date herewith between eRT and Covance, acquiring any Person whose principal line of business is not the provision of the Services.

- 2.3 <u>Covenants of Covance</u>. During the Term, Covance shall:
 - Appoint the Covance Relationship Manager, who shall be an employee of Covance with qualifications sufficient to meet the existing needs of the position as Covance may deem appropriate in its reasonable discretion, as relationship manager responsible for managing Covance's relationship with eRT under this Agreement and facilitating the completion of tasks set forth in the Implementation Plan.
 - Appoint the Covance Sales Manager, who shall be (i) a full-time, fully dedicated employee of Covance, (ii) knowledgeable in the sale of the Services and other cardiac safety services and (iii) suitable, in the reasonable discretion of Covance, for interaction with (a) other employees of Covance and its Affiliates responsible, directly and indirectly, for the performance by Covance of its obligations under this Agreement and (b) Customers in a manner expected, in the reasonable discretion of
 - 2.3.2 Covance, to enable the Covance Sales Manager to promote successfully to such employees and Customers the availability and value proposition for Services able to be provided by eRT. eRT shall pay to Covance a sum equal to fifty percent (50%) of the salary and benefits paid to such Covance Sales Manager which salary shall be mutually agreed upon annually by Covance and eRT. Such payment shall be made on a quarterly basis and shall be remitted by eRT within thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar quarter.
 - 2.3.3 Comply with and perform in all material respects Covance's obligations set forth in the Implementation Plan.
 - Cause the attendance at meetings either in-person or via teleconference with eRT's chief executive officer and/or chief financial officer and the eRT Relationship Manager of at least three of the following individuals: (i) the president of late-stage development of Covance, (ii) the senior financial officer responsible for the late-stage development unit of Covance, (iii) the senior executive responsible for the Phase I unit (or, in case of any individual identified by clause (i), (ii) or (iii) of this Section
 - 2.3.4 2.3.4, any other senior executive of Covance with similar responsibilities), (iv) the Covance Relationship Manager and (v) the Covance Sales Manager. Covance and eRT acknowledge that they shall make good faith reasonable efforts to (i) hold such meetings once during each calendar quarter during the Term, and shall be of sufficient duration and (ii) prepare adequately to enable productive discussion at such meetings of matters incident to the performance by the Parties of their respective obligations under this Agreement.
- 2.4 <u>Covenants of eRT</u>. During the Term, eRT shall:
 - Appoint the eRT Relationship Manager, who shall be an employee of eRT with qualifications sufficient to meet the existing needs of the position as eRT may deem appropriate in its reasonable discretion, as relationship manager responsible for managing eRT's relationship with Covance under this Agreement and facilitating the completion of tasks set forth in the Implementation Plan.
 - Respond promptly to any request for proposal or other communication from Covance pursuant to this Agreement or the Implementation Plan;
 - Keep proper books and records sufficient to demonstrate the basis for the calculation of amounts payable to Covance hereunder, and permit representatives of Covance, upon reasonable prior notice during normal business hours, to visit its facilities and any
 - 2.4.3 pending projects, examine and make copies of books and records and to discuss the information contained therein (or such other information as may be relevant to the calculation of amounts payable to Covance hereunder) with eRT's officers and employees;

- Permit representatives of Covance or its Affiliates, upon reasonable prior notice during normal business hours, to have access to and inspect eRT's facilities, to inspect, audit and make extracts from its books, records and files, and to meet with eRT officers, employees and representatives for the purpose of conducting quality assurance audits, including with respect to (i) the provision of the Services, (ii) compliance with regulations of any Governmental Authority and (iii) satisfaction of eRT's other obligations under this Agreement;
- In the event that corrective action is required to address any issues identified by Covance or its Affiliates in connection with any audit pursuant to Section 2.4.4, eRT will respond promptly, but no longer than fifteen (15) business days following notification of such issues, with a plan reasonably calculated to provide such corrective action, and will implement such plan on a reasonable timetable as set forth therein;
- 2.4.6 Notify Covance promptly of any material complaints received from Customers for which eRT is providing Services related to the provision of Services to such Customers;
- Inform the Covance Relationship Manager (or any other Covance employee appointed by Covance to receive such information)
 2.4.7 of any new Services offered by eRT from time to time, in order that Covance may inform those of its representatives dealing with Customers that such Services are available;
- Notify Covance promptly and, in any event, within seven (7) business days of the occurrence of any event, notice or condition which would immediately, or with notice or lapse of time, entitle Covance to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1;
- 2.4.9 Comply in all material respects with the eRT obligations set forth in the Implementation Plan;
- 2.4.10 Not employ any person who has been disbarred by the FDA, and in the event any employee is disbarred by the FDA to promptly notify Covance;
- To the extent it provides Services other than by subcontracting as set forth in Section 3.3, provide them in a manner consistent 2.4.11 with eRT's customary clinical practices and in compliance with all applicable rules, laws and regulations of any Governmental Authority.
- 2.5 Costs and Expenses. Except as may be expressly agreed to in writing by Covance and eRT, each Party will pay all costs and expenses incurred in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement.

3. Implementation of Marketing Plan; Exclusivity; Other Agreements.

- Commitments. eRT shall not be obligated to accept any commitment proposed or made by Covance for eRT to provide Services to any Customer, other than commitments to which Covance has first obtained eRT's prior written consent. eRT agrees to respond to all commitments proposed by Covance in a timely manner. Covance shall not propose or make any other commitment for or on behalf of eRT.
 - <u>Preferred Pricing Provision</u>. All fees and charges arising from or relating to Services by eRT to Customers, or by eRT to Covance or any Affiliate thereof for further provision to Customers pursuant to subcontracting arrangements as set forth in Section 3.3, will be at eRT's established prices for the relevant Customer(s) or, if such prices are not established, will be at competitive prices that eRT
- 3.2 would offer to third parties in similar transactions. In any event, if Covance has submitted a proposal to eRT (and eRT has accepted such proposal) to provide Services to a Customer for a specific project, eRT shall use commercially reasonable efforts to not offer to provide Services for such project directly to such Customer for fees and charges which are less than those which eRT offers through Covance regardless of the referral fees and any other compensation payable to Covance by eRT.

- Subcontracting Arrangements. eRT acknowledges and agrees that Covance and its Affiliates may find it desirable to provide the Services by direct contract between Covance or its Affiliates with the Customer, with Covance or its Affiliate then subcontracting with eRT for the provision of the relevant Services, and such subcontracting by Covance or its Affiliates will fulfill Covance's marketing obligations under Section 2.1.1 of this Agreement with respect to the relevant Customer. Covance and eRT further agree, in each instance, to enter into a subcontracting agreement substantially in the form attached as Exhibit A hereto (the "Subcontracting Agreement"), which will serve as the contractual basis for any subcontracting of Services pursuant to this Section. The Parties will negotiate and implement specific work orders, as defined in the Subcontracting Agreement (each a "Work Order"), relating to each project subcontracted to eRT.
- Implementation Plan. Each of eRT and Covance will comply, in all material respects, and will cause its Affiliates to comply, in all material respects, with the provisions of the implementation plan attached as Exhibit B hereto (the "Implementation Plan"). Future modifications of the Implementation Plan, if any, will be negotiated by the parties in good faith, beginning with discussions between the parties' respective relationship managers, and escalating discussions to the parties respective senior management to the extent necessary within a reasonable time frame. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or in any other document or agreement, in the event of a conflict between this Agreement and the Implementation Plan, this Agreement shall govern and control.
- Covance Sales Manager. At any time and from time to time, eRT may, by notice to Covance, inform Covance that eRT has determined, in its reasonable discretion, that the Covance Sales Manager no longer is acceptable to eRT. Any such notice shall state, in reasonable detail, the basis for eRT's determination. If Covance does not appoint a successor Covance Sales Manager, who shall possess the qualifications set forth in Section 2.3.2 and who shall be satisfactory, in all reasonable respects, to eRT, within thirty (30) days after such notice, then the Parties agree that they shall work together in good faith either to cause the performance of the Covance Sales Manager to become acceptable to eRT, in its reasonable discretion, or to appoint a successor Covance Sales Manager.
- eRT Relationship Manager. At any time and from time to time, Covance may, by notice to eRT, inform eRT that Covance has determined, in its reasonable discretion, that the eRT Relationship Manager no longer is acceptable to Covance. Any such notice shall state, in reasonable detail, the basis for Covance's determination. If eRT does not appoint a successor eRT Relationship Manager, who shall possess the qualifications set forth in Section 2.3.2 and who shall be satisfactory, in all reasonable respects, to Covance, within thirty (30) days after such notice, then the Parties agree that they shall work together in good faith either to cause the performance of the eRT Relationship Manager to become acceptable to Covance, in its reasonable discretion.
- Exclusivity of Services. Covance agrees that, except as set forth in Section 2.2.1 or 2.2.2, during the Exclusivity Period, neither Covance nor any Affiliate thereof will engage in the offer, sale or provision of the Services. "Exclusivity Period" means the period commencing on the date hereof and ending upon the expiration of the Term; *provided, however*, that (a) the Exclusivity Period shall end as of the effective date of termination of this Agreement in the event of termination by either Party pursuant to Section 8 of this Agreement and (b), subject to (a), the Exclusivity Period shall be extended by the period of time during which Covance or any Affiliate thereof is in breach of Section 2.1, 2.2.1 or 3.7, as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, and such period of time of breach shall be added to the end of the Exclusivity Period, once such breach ceases.

<u>Conduct of Audits</u>. Any Party may conduct an Audit of the other Party, *provided* that any Audit shall be conducted exclusively in the manner contemplated by this Section 3.8. Any Audit of another Party shall be conducted upon reasonable notice and request and at reasonable times. No Party shall be permitted to conduct more than two (2) Audits of another Party in any twelve (12)-month period,

3.8 unless warranted and reasonable based on the results of a prior Audit. Any Audit of eRT conducted by Covance shall be limited in scope to matters relating to eRT's performance of Services for any Customer in connection with any Study. Any Audit of Covance conducted by eRT shall be limited in scope to matters relating to Covance's performance of any services required pursuant to this Agreement.

4. Payments.

4.1 Payment Terms. For purposes of Section 4.2, Relevant Revenues shall not be deemed to be received by eRT until the actual receipt of cash on account thereof by eRT. Amounts payable pursuant to Section 4.2.1 shall become due and payable within thirty (30) days following the end of month in which eRT received such Relevant Revenues. Appropriate adjustments shall be made if Relevant Revenues with respect to which amounts were paid pursuant to Section 4.2.1 are restated or otherwise adjusted in future periods.

4.2 Referral Fees.

Covance Referral Fees. eRT shall pay Covance a referral fee with respect to Relevant Revenues (other than from eRT Excluded Customers) for each calendar year during the Term received by eRT and its Affiliates as a result of (i) Documented Leads provided by Covance for the performance of Services by eRT or (ii) Joint Bids. Such referral fee, computed with respect to such Relevant Revenues for any calendar year during the Term, shall equal (i) the sum of (a) the respective portions of such Relevant Revenues for such calendar year within each "Range of Relevant Revenues" in the table below multiplied by (b) the "Referral Fee Percentage" in the table below applicable to such range.

Range of Relevant Revenues	Referral fee percentage
Amount up to \$[] million	[]%
Amount in excess of \$[] million up to \$[] million	[]%
Amount in excess of \$[] million+	[]%

By way of example and not limitation, if eRT receives Relevant Revenues as a result of Documented Leads provided by Covance for the performance of Services by eRT and Joint Bids in an aggregate amount equal to \$[] million (including Relevant Revenues from eRT Excluded Customers equal to \$[] million) for a particular calendar year during the term, then eRT shall pay Covance a referral fee computed as follows: (\$[] million * []%)+(\$[] million * []%)+(\$[] million * []%), or \$[].

Indemnity. eRT shall defend, indemnify and hold Covance and its Affiliates and its and their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, successors and assigns harmless, to the full extent permitted in law or equity, from and against any and all losses, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses) ("Losses") arising from third party claims, actions or 5. proceedings ("Claims"), to the extent such Losses arising from Claims are proximately caused by or resulting from: (i) the negligence, reckless conduct or willful misconduct of eRT or its Affiliates, and their respective employees or agents in the provision of Services or otherwise, (ii) any breach by eRT of its obligations under this Agreement or (iii) any violation by eRT of any applicable U.S. or other federal, state or local

regulation, statute or order in the provision of the Services, except to the extent that such Losses arising from Claims arise from the negligence, reckless conduct or willful misconduct of Covance or any Affiliate thereof. Covance shall defend, indemnify and hold eRT and its Affiliates and its and their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, successors and assigns harmless, to the full extent permitted in law or equity, from and against any and all Losses arising from Claims, to the extent such Losses arising from Claims are proximately caused by or resulting from: (i) the negligence, reckless conduct or willful misconduct of Covance, its employees or agents in the conduct of any clinical trial involving the Services or otherwise, (ii) any breach by Covance of its obligations under this Agreement, or (iii) any violation by Covance of any applicable U.S. or other federal, state or local regulation, statute or order arising out of Covance' duties under this Agreement, except to the extent that such Losses arising from Claims arise from the negligence, reckless conduct or willful misconduct of eRT or any of its Affiliates.

6. Limitation of Liability.

- General. Except as set forth in Section 6.2, in no event will either Party or its Affiliates be liable to the other Party or any of its

 Affiliates under any circumstance for any consequential, special or indirect damages, whether such damages are based upon a claim or action of tort, contract, warranty, negligence, strict liability, breach of statutory duty, contribution, indemnity, or any other legal theory or cause of action, even if advised of the possibility of such damages.
 - Exclusion. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Agreement, in the event that Covance or any of its Affiliates breaches, or is in breach of, Section 2.1.1(i) (subject to the exceptions set forth in Section 2.1.2), 2.2.1 and/or 3.7, in addition to any other remedy that may be available, including, without limitation, any remedy that may be available in accordance with Section 6.3, eRT shall be entitled to pursue against Covance and/or any of its Affiliates, any claim or action; *provided, that*, with respect to such claim or action, damages will be limited to forty million dollars (\$40,000,000) (the "Damages Cap") with respect to any claim or action arising from any such breach that occurs at any time from the date hereof until the one (1) year anniversary of this Agreement, and
- 6.2 beginning on the day after the one (1) year anniversary of this Agreement, and on the day after each successive one (1) year anniversary thereafter, the Damages Cap with respect to any claim or action arising from any such breach that occurs at any time during such period will decrease by seventeen and one-half percent (17.5%) annually. For example, during the period from the day after the two (2) year anniversary of this Agreement until the three (3) year anniversary of this Agreement, the Damages Cap shall equal twenty-seven million two hundred twenty-five thousand dollars (\$27,225,000) and during the period from the day after the three (3) year anniversary of this Agreement, the Damages Cap shall equal twenty-two million four hundred sixty thousand six hundred twenty-five dollars (\$22,460,625).
- Specific Enforcement. Each Party acknowledges and agrees for itself and its Affiliates that the covenants set forth in Section 2.1, 2.2.1 and 3.7 are a reasonable and necessary protection of the legitimate interests of eRT and any failure of Covance (or any of its Affiliates) to comply with the requirements of such Sections may cause eRT irreparable injury. Each Party further acknowledges and agrees for itself and its Affiliates that the remedy at law for any breach or threatened breach of any such Sections may be inadequate as a result of limitations set forth in this Agreement as to the claim or action that may be maintained, the extent or type damages that can be pursued or recovered or otherwise, and, accordingly, eRT shall, in addition to any other rights and remedies that eRT may have, be entitled to seek an injunction or temporary restraining order to prevent such breach or threatened breach and to enforce any of the covenants set forth in Section 2.1, 2.2.1 and 3.7, including, without limitation, to compel Covance or its Affiliates to perform their obligations under such Sections and this Agreement, with any court of competent jurisdiction, in addition to any other remedy to which eRT is entitled at law or in equity.
- Confidential Information. No Party shall disclose, or permit any of its Affiliates to disclose, any Confidential Information to any thirdparty, except in the case of a disclosure by eRT or any of its Affiliates, with the prior written consent of Covance or, in the case of a disclosure by Covance or any of its

Affiliates, with the prior written consent of eRT. Each Party may disclose Confidential Information to its employees, representatives, consultants, professional advisors and agents who require access to such information in performing activities consistent with the purposes for which such information was disclosed or obtained, provided that each Party shall be fully responsible for any breach of this Section by its employees, representatives, consultants, professional advisors or agents. This Section shall not apply to any Confidential Information (i) to the extent that the Confidential Information has been independently developed by the receiving Party, (ii) to the extent that the Confidential Information is publicly available or generally known other than by breach of the provisions of this Agreement or is disclosed by a third party which third party is not in breach of an obligation of confidentiality or otherwise prohibited from disclosing such Confidential Information; (iii) to the extent disclosure is necessary to comply with any Governmental Authority, in which event the Party making such disclosure shall notify the Party that disclosed the Confidential Information as promptly as practicable (and, if possible, prior to making such disclosure), shall consult with such other Party so as to minimize the necessity of disclosure and shall cooperate with the other Party to seek confidential treatment of such information by the relevant Governmental Authority; or (iv) disclosure of which is reasonably necessary in connection with (and strictly limited to) enforcement of such Party's rights hereunder. For the purposes of this Agreement, "Confidential Information" shall mean any proprietary or confidential information of either Party disclosed to the other Party, whether in written, electronic, graphic or oral form, including without limitation the existence and substantive terms of this Agreement. The provisions of this Section shall apply throughout the Term.

8. Term and Termination.

Term and Termination. This Agreement shall be effective as of the date hereof, and shall continue in effect for a period of ten (10) years (the "Term"); provided, however, that, the Term shall be tolled by any court of competent jurisdiction before whom any action is brought by eRT to enforce, or to seek damages for breach of, Section 2.1, 2.2.1 and/or 3.7 during any period of time during which Covance or any Affiliate thereof is in breach of any such Section as determined by such court, and such period of time of any such breach shall be added to the end of the Term once such breach ceases. Either Party may terminate this Agreement by notice to the other Party (i) if the other Party is in material breach of any material provision of this Agreement and has not cured such breach within ninety (90) days after written notice to such other Party specifying the nature of such breach in reasonable detail, or, if the breach is not reasonably curable within 90 days, the breaching Party is not diligently pursuing a cure (ii) if the FDA or any other

- 8.1 breach is not reasonably curable within 90 days, the breaching Party is not diligently pursuing a cure (ii) if the FDA or any other Governmental Authority takes any action with respect to the Services which impairs materially the ability of the other Party to perform its obligations under this Agreement or to any Customer under the Subcontracting Agreement and the subject of such warning or action remains in effect and uncured upon the occurrence of the Cure Period Expiration Date (as defined below) calculated from the date the other Party receives such warning or the FDA or other Governmental Authority takes such action, or (iii) upon the insolvency or bankruptcy of the other Party. Without limitation of the foregoing, the occurrence of any of the following events shall also permit either Party, by notice to the other Party, to terminate this Agreement, which termination shall not be effective unless the occurrence of such event is continuing after any applicable Cure Period Expiration Date:
 - Critical Finding. The other Party receives a Critical Finding related to the Services, in the case of eRT, or any services provided 8.1.1 by Covance, in the case of Covance, and fails to remedy such Critical Finding during the period commencing with the other Party's receipt of the Critical Finding and ending with the last to expire of the following (the "Cure Period Expiration Date"):
 - (i) the ninety (90)-day period during which the other Party shall make diligent efforts to remedy such Critical Finding;
 - (ii) if such Critical Finding is not remedied within the ninety (90)-day period referred to above, but such Party is satisfied that the other Party has made diligent efforts to remedy such problems and has identified

further corrective actions reasonably acceptable to such Party, then an additional forty-five (45)-day period shall be granted during which the other Party shall diligently pursue the identified corrective actions;

if such Critical Finding is not remedied within the ninety (90)-day period referred to in subsection (i), above, and such Party either is not satisfied that the other Party has made diligent efforts to remedy such Critical Finding, or finds the further corrective actions proposed by the other Party not to be reasonably acceptable, then such Party will engage an Independent Third-Party Auditor to evaluate the other Party to determine if such Critical Finding remains applicable to the other Party, and if so, the feasibility and likelihood of success of the other Party's proposed corrective actions; if such Independent Third-Party Auditor finds that such Critical Finding has not been remedied, and that such proposed corrective actions are not reasonably likely to succeed, then the other Party shall have no further time period in which to remedy such Critical Finding, and such Party may terminate this Agreement upon notice to the other Party; if,

- corrective actions are not reasonably likely to succeed, then the other Party shall have no further time period in which to remedy such Critical Finding, and such Party may terminate this Agreement upon notice to the other Party; if, however such Independent Third-Party Auditor finds that the other Party's proposed corrective actions are reasonably likely to succeed within the additional forty-five (45) day time period, then the other Party shall have such additional period of time in which to diligently pursue the corrective actions identified to such Party and such Third-Party Auditor; and
- If the other Party is granted an additional period to remedy such Critical Finding pursuant to subsection (iii), above, and such Critical Finding is not certified by the Independent Third-Party Auditor to have been remedied within such additional period, then such Party may terminate this Agreement upon notice to the other Party.
- Survival. Upon expiration of this Agreement, each Party will: (a) cease using any marketing materials or intellectual property of the other Party in its possession or control, and (b) certify to the other Party within ten (10) days that it has either returned or destroyed all such copies of the marketing materials or intellectual property. Sections 2.5, 3.1, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 will survive any expiration of this Agreement.

9. Miscellaneous.

- Relationship of Parties. eRT and Covance agree that each Party's legal relationship to the other under this Agreement is as an independent contractor. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to create a joint venture, agency, partnership, or other relationship between eRT and Covance, and neither shall have any power by virtue of this Agreement to enter into any contract or commitment on behalf of the other or to bind the other in any respect whatsoever.
- Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and supersedes all other prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties with respect to its subject matter. This Agreement may be amended, modified or supplemented only by a written agreement (referring specifically to this Agreement) of Covance and eRT. In the event one or more of the provisions of this Agreement or the application thereof to any circumstance are found to be invalid or unenforceable to any extent by a court with jurisdiction, the remaining provisions shall continue in full force and effect. If any provision of this Agreement is found to be so broad as to be unenforceable, such provision shall be interpreted to be only as broad as is enforceable.

9.3 Notices. All notices hereunder shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally, mailed by overnight delivery, registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or mailed by express mail service to the following addresses of the respective parties:

If to Covance: Covance Inc.

210 Carnegie Center Princeton, NJ 08540-9375 Attention: General Counsel Telephone No.: 609-452-4048 Telecopy No.: 609-452-9865

If to eRT: eResearch Technology, Inc.

30 South 17th Street

Philadelphia, PA 19103-4001

Attention: Mr. Richard A. Baron, Chief Financial Officer

Telephone No.: 215-282-5566 Telecopy No.: 215-972-2238

Notices shall be effective upon receipt if personally delivered or delivered by courier, on the third business day following the date of mailing if sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, and on the first business day following timely delivery to a nationally recognized overnight courier service for next day business day delivery. A Party may change its address listed above by notice to the other Party but no such notice shall be effective unless and until actually received.

- 9.4 Governing Law. This Agreement and all rights and liabilities of the parties hereunder shall be subject to and governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflict of laws.
- 9.5 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement.
- Assignment. This Agreement and all of the provisions hereof shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors, trustees and permitted assigns, but neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned (whether voluntarily, involuntarily, by operation of law or otherwise) by any party hereto without the prior written consent of the other party, unless such assignment is to a party acquiring substantially all of the assigning party's assets, and such acquiring party agrees in writing to be bound by the terms of this Agreement as if it were a party hereto.
 - Business Combinations. Except with the prior written consent of eRT, during the Term, Covance shall not enter into or agree to effect any merger, acquisition, consolidation, reorganization or other business combination with any other Person involving all or substantially all of the assets or business of Covance in which Covance is not the surviving Person thereto unless (i) the Parent's counsel provides an opinion of counsel to eRT, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to eRT, to the effect that the surviving Person will be bound by this Agreement as if it were a party hereto or (ii) the surviving Person agrees in writing, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to eRT, to be bound by the terms of this Agreement as if it were a party hereto. In the event that eRT enters into or agrees to effect any merger, acquisition, consolidation, reorganization or other business combination with any other Person that operates a business that competes directly with any of Covance's clinical pharmacology businesses, Covance shall not be required to use eRT as the exclusive provider of Services in connection with any projects that involve the type of work for which Covance's clinical pharmacology business and eRT may compete; provided, that, for the purposes of this Section, Covance's clinical pharmacology business shall be deemed to exclude, and Covance shall remain required to use eRT exclusively with respect to, Thorough QT/QTc electrocardiology trials (TQT as defined by FDA ICH E14 Guidance).

Force Majeure. No Party will be responsible for any failure to perform its obligations under this Agreement due to causes beyond its reasonable control, including without limitation acts of God, war, riot, embargoes, acts of civil or military authorities, fire, floods,
 9.8 earthquakes, accidents, strikes, or fuel crises, provided that such Party gives prompt written notice of such cause to the other Party. The affected Party's time for performance will be extended for a period equal to the duration of the force majeure, provided that such extended period of time falls within the Term.

<u>Publicity</u>. Except as required by law, the Parties will make all reasonable efforts to consult with each other before issuing or causing to be issued any press release or otherwise making any written public statement, if any, with respect to the existence or subject matter of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either Party may, without attempting to consult with the other Party, make oral communications that are consistent in content with any press release or other written public statement previously made that complied with this Section. To the extent that either Party is required by law to file this Agreement publicly, such Party shall provide the other Party with a copy of the proposed filing at least five (5) days prior to filing in order to allow such other Party the opportunity to provide comments thereon (which comments the filing Party will take in consideration).

Use and Ownership of eRT Marks. During the Term, Covance and its Affiliates shall have the limited right to use eRT's name and any applicable trademark, trade name and copyright of eRT solely in connection with the provision of any Services to Customers and for no other purpose. eRT represents and warrants that it is the sole owner of eRT's name and any trademark, trade name, patent and copyright of eRT. Covance acknowledges and agrees that, by virtue of its use of eRT's name and any trademark or trade name as permitted by the provisions of this Agreement, neither Covance nor any of its Affiliates shall acquire any ownership or registration rights therein; and that, upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever, the right of Covance to use eRT's name or any trademark or trade name of eRT shall thereupon cease. eRT acknowledges and agrees that it shall not acquire any ownership or registration rights in Covance's name or any of its trademarks, service marks or trade names.

In witness whereof, each of Covance and eRT has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf by its respective officer duly authorized to do so, all as of the date specified above in the preamble.

Covance Inc.

By: /s/ James W. Lovett

Name: James W. Lovett Title: Senior Vice President

eResearchTechnology, Inc.

By: /s/ Richard A. Baron

Name: Richard A. Baron

Title: Executive Vice President, Chief Financial

Officer and Secretary